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Thursday, December 13, 2012

--- On resuming at 9:02 a.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Perhaps before we continue with cross-examination of this panel, Mr. Cass, we had left off towards the end of the day yesterday with a discussion on a potential undertaking with Mr. Rubenstein, as well discussing how best to get at some information that would be of assistance to Mr. Rubenstein and the Board, and you were going to speak to your client about some options as to -- I will characterize them as going broad and high level versus narrow and deep on mining out some information.  So have you had an opportunity to speak with your client?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Chair, yes.  I think I did do my best to convey what might be done at the high level.  With respect to the idea of picking what I might call one or two examples and attempting to do them in the detailed level, my understanding is that to pick even a single business case and to go through the manual process that I described yesterday, it would be a matter of several weeks.

It would be weeks to go through that manual process for one business case and pick out the jobs that would be considered to be comparable and go through the process that I described.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You did describe yesterday what you would consider to be possible, as far as the broader --


MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- which would be looking at the business cases, historical spending in areas similar, and then providing caveats and narrative around that describing the differences.  Is that a fair characterization?

MR. CASS:  Yes, looking at the spending at the level of the example of that particular page in the compendium that we were looking at yesterday, doing it at that level, and then providing the explanation of the caveats as to what that means in relation to the spending proposed in this case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I do understand.  Mr. Rubenstein, any comment?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think for at least some of the segments, that can't be the case.  So for the example of sort of metering, they are doing work roughly in two sort of areas, from my understanding of their -- I think it's the B20 segment of metering.  One is regarding sort of changing wholesale meter replacements for certain legacy transformers to comply with the IESO rules, and the second is to replace existing meters to comply with Measurement Canada and legislation.

And there are very comparable things, because there are only two big areas, and it's not to specific job level, that they should be able to show what they have actually spent in previous years on similar things, because there are similar categories in the evidence in the 2011 rebasing application.

Hydro One capital contributions is clearly sort of a broad category that they catch.  Externally relocated, plant relocations and expansions is another thing.

With respect to the smaller ones, well, I am in the Board's hands, clearly.  I think, at the very least, an understanding of sort of directionally are they spending more, less, roughly the same on these sorts of things would give the Board at least some sort of indication of how these things compare.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you very much.  Thank you both.  The Panel will consider this at the break and get back to you right after we break this morning.  Thank you.

I believe, unless there is anything else as far as preliminary matters go, Mr. Crocker, I believe you are up today and will be finishing up the cross of this panel this morning.
THESL - PANEL 2B, CAPITAL PROJECTS, RESUMED


Guillaume (Guy) Paradis, Previously Sworn


Christopher Kerr, Previously Sworn


Jack Simpson, Previously Sworn


Mary Byrne, Previously Sworn

Cross-Examination by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair, Panel.

Just to let you know, my name is David Crocker.  I'm with Shelly Grice.  We represent AMPCO.  Just to let you know what we are proposing to do so there will be no surprises, we propose to cross-examine on a number of the projects or programs which are described in the summary of capital program that you have provided that were not cross-examined on by anybody else, a little bit of general cross-examination, and then ask a question that Mr. Rubenstein forgot to ask.

The projects that we are going to be talking about questioning you on are B10, B11, B13.1 and B13.2, B14, B15, B16, B19 and B21.  We may ask a question about B3.

And just to advise the Board, we have been consulted, advised, by two utility engineers who provided advice to AMPCO, Wayne Clark and Martin Longlade, in terms of preparing this cross-examination.

We have provided the Board with a compendium.  I think everybody has a copy.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, that will be Exhibit K4.1, and I believe the Panel already has copies.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.1:  AMPCO CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM for panel 2b

MR. QUESNELLE:  We do, thank you.  Does the witness panel have copies of the compendium?  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  The first project I would like to talk to you about is B10, the fibertop network units.  And if we look at the first page of the compendium, originally you proposed to spend 8.59 million on that project in 2012 and 8.78 million in 2013, and your revised numbers are 2.84 million and 18.76 million; correct?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Crocker, I am not following that.  Can we take a look at this again?  We are looking at page 1 and page 2, page 1 being the original summary, the second page being the revised.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We are talking about fibertop network units?

MR. CROCKER:  Sorry, I was following along on the wrong line the second time.  I apologize.  The revised numbers are 1.48 and 7.71.

MR. PARADIS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Which I suppose makes it clear that you better be careful in terms of agreeing with me.

MR. PARADIS:  Clearly I need an extra sip of coffee.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  The numbers I have just suggested to you, the second series of numbers, the correct ones, indicate that you're reducing the number of fibertop network units you are going to deal with in 2012 and increasing -- and reducing the number in 2013, as well.  Do you agree with that?

MR. PARADIS:  Well, just for the sake of clarification, the reduction -- there will be a reduction in numbers in terms of replacement executed, and, as we have outlined in the business case, this is primarily due to limitations associated with execution.

MR. CROCKER:  I am not sure what limitations associated with execution means.

MR. PARADIS:  So because of the loading on our downtown network, there are certain periods of the year where it's actually not possible to rearrange the supply in a fashion that will allow us to do a replacement of one of those fibertop network units, and therefore there's only certain periods in the year where we are in a position to execute those replacements.  And as a result, you know, there is an overall limitation in terms of how many replacements can be executed in a given year.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I don't want to get into the reason why, particularly, how that can be different from your original -- how those issues make the numbers any different year over year, because it's not central to what I am getting at here.  And I would like to sort of keep this on pace.

I am not sure where I got these numbers from, but am I correct in suggesting that you're reducing the number from 187 units to 61 units?

MR. PARADIS:  So the revision is from the original -- and I am just trying to get the exact number and make sure I don't agree to something again.  The revision in this update of the ICM submission is for a replacement of 61 units in what we have called '12/'13.  We did not reduce the number of units we are hoping to replace in 2014, but as we discussed previously, that's not, you know, considered at this point.

So the overall reduction is not, in fact, from the original number of somewhere in the neighbourhood of 187 to 61, but rather it would be a reduction of the order of -- and without the exact number here, but approximately 60 units to reflect the passage of time in 2012.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And you'd agree with me, would you not, that on the basis of your own evidence, that the fibertop network units are in good or very good condition?

MR. PARADIS:  So I believe you are referring to the classification as per our asset condition assessment?

MR. CROCKER:  I am referring to -- turn to page 5 of the compendium.

You responded to an interrogatory from AMPCO, and that's how you describe the fibertop units.

MR. PARADIS:  Right.  So I think we provided also a detailed answer, and I will just try to find the exact reference.  We had an interrogatory on this matter.

MR. CROCKER:  You can turn to the next page, as well, where you say the same thing.

MR. PARADIS:  Okay.  Yes, so as per our asset condition assessment, a majority of our protector population is in good or very good health.

As it pertains to the fibertops, I think we had a bit of a discussion during the technical conference as to why their susceptibility to degradation and the risk of failure doesn't seem to be reflected in the asset condition assessment.  And what we tried to explain at that time was that there is an inherent flaw in the design of those units which makes them more susceptible to catastrophic failures, and that would be irrespective of whether or not, from a physical inspection, they would appear to be in condition.

So there are inherent issues with the design, and the application that was made of those units, which makes them prone to rapid -- and I wouldn't call it entirely unexpected, but certainly just rapid degradation leading to catastrophic failures.

I think we have an example of what can happen with those units and how they can go from appearing to be in good condition to failing months later.  I will just, again, try to find the right page in our evidence here.

So if I could point you to tab 4 of schedule B-10, and that would be on page 13, there is a bit of discussion about a specific vault located, actually, not too far from here, at Erskine Avenue.

So that location, we had a fire at that location, I believe it's in 2010, June 2010, where a fibertop unit failed catastrophically, leading to a fire.  Following the event, our crews replaced the unit with a new submersible fibertop -- sorry, a new submersible protector, did a thorough cleaning of the location, left the vault in what would be considered, you know, close to pristine condition, and in spite of that effort to address the issues with that location and the environmental factors that might have led to the original failure, we found ourselves -- earlier this year, actually, in 2012 -- with a very similar incident occurring at the same specific location as a result of having left another fibertop unit in the vault, which at the time appeared to be in excellent condition, but over the course of the year or so after the first incident, degraded, leading to a failure at that very same location.

MR. CROCKER:  You say in your response to AMPCO's interrogatory on page 6 of the compendium that the assets require replacement because of their age; do you agree with that?

And I should also ask you -- I will ask you another question.  You are proposing to replace the fibertop network units with submersible ones; correct?

MR. PARADIS:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You can answer my first question, then, as well.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, with respect to the first question, perhaps it could be put fairly to the witness.

What is actually said on page 6 of the compendium is that they require replacement because of their age and the risk and nature of their failure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. PARADIS:  So just adding to that, Fred is correct -- Mr. Cass, sorry, is correct in pointing out that the replacement is not as a result of age, although it is shown in the evidence that the population as -- in general has exceeded its expected useful life.

The driver for the replacement is the inherent risk associated with that specific asset in the application that was made of the asset.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.

These assets, these fibertop network units, are contained in, for the most part, underground vaults, the underground vaults that are described in B-9 of the project description, aren't they -- the program description, are they not?

MR. PARADIS:  The majority of the units would be located in underground vaults, typically under sidewalks or in heavily -- high traffic areas in terms of pedestrian volumes.

We also have instances of network equipment located in vaults that are in what we would call much milder environments, so not directly under a sidewalk.  They could be next to a building or protected from, you know, the weather because of the construction of the building or the environment.

MR. CROCKER:  I don't think I need to ask you about your B9 project, other than to say to you that you propose in B9, do you not, to replace many of the roofs and other parts of those vaults?

MR. PARADIS:  That is correct, we are proposing to rebuild 17 vaults and replace six roofs.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And that is an additional -- 17 replacements and an additional six roofs?

MR. PARADIS:  I am not sure what you mean by "additional".

MR. CROCKER:  You are replacing 17; correct?

MR. PARADIS:  We are proposing to rebuild 17 vaults.  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And in addition to those 17, on six others you are replacing the roofs?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Of the 61 fibertop network units that you are replacing, how many of them are in vaults that are going to be replaced or in vaults where the roofs are going to be replaced?

MR. PARADIS:  My apologies for the delay here.  I was under the impression we had answered an IR, an interrogatory, regarding that point.  But, sorry, could you just quickly repeat the question?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Of the 61 fibertop network units that you propose to replace, how many of them are in vaults that you are going to replace and how many of them are in vaults where you are proposing to replace the roofs?

MR. PARADIS:  So we did do the comparison of the proposed replacements as we would not want to target a fibertop protector for replacement if we knew that the civil infrastructure was to be rebuilt in the near future, as that would, you know, require some duplication of the work in terms of removing the unit and reinstalling it.

I believe there should not be overlap between the two programs, and, in cases where there might be, there would be verification at the design stage to ensure that there is no pending work, in terms of civil construction, for the very same location.  So we do some validation, of course, internally to ensure that there is no replacement for locations that are scheduled to be rebuilt in the near term.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  So are you saying, then, that none of the 61 that you propose to replace are in vaults that are going to be redone or vaults where the roofs are going to be redone?

MR. PARADIS:  Subject to check, there shouldn't be overlap.  And, as I just pointed out, in cases where our plans would propose duplication of work, we would certainly take steps at the design stage to ensure that there is no duplication of work.

MR. CROCKER:  Maybe I should ask you for an undertaking just to confirm that, if you could.

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, we can do that.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.1:  TO CONFIRM, OF THE 61 FIBERTOP NETWORK UNITS BEING PROPOSED TO BE REPLACED, HOW MANY ARE IN VAULTS TO BE REPLACED AND HOW MANY IN VAULTS BEING PROPOSED TO HAVE REPLACED ROOFS.

MR. CROCKER:  And the reason I am asking the question comes from your response to AMPCO's interrogatory which is reproduced at page 5 of the compendium.

You would agree with me that failure of these units is, in some cases, caused by external contamination, and that by improving the vaults and the roofs of the vaults the likelihood of external contamination affecting these units will be reduced, if not eliminated?

MR. PARADIS:  I think it's fair to say that by rebuilding the roof of a vault, we can mitigate the exposure to the environment and, therefore, alleviate some of the concerns associated with the design flaws of the fibertop network units.  I think that's fair.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  All right, let's go to B11, which is -- you have described it as automatic transfer switches and reverse power breakers.

I am going to concentrate my questions on the automatic transfer switches.  The original spend for this was to be 3.27 million in 2012 and 3.30 in 2013, and the revised is nothing in 2012 and 3.26 in 2013.

Would you agree with that?  I don't blame you for being careful.

MR. PARADIS:  That's correct.

MR. CROCKER:  You're proposing to replace the automatic transfer switches because they are failing.  You'd agree with that?

MR. PARADIS:  They have a tendency to fail under contingencies, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And you'd agree with me that there are different kinds of failures?  You could have a catastrophic failure where the switch blows up or something significant happens to the switch and it can't be used, but there are other kinds that are less significant where they just fail; correct?

MR. PARADIS:  So you are correct in pointing that there are different failure modes.

The failure can be catastrophic at times.  Other times, it may leave the specific location with no redundancy in terms of supply, meaning that if any other event was to happen on the system, those specific locations would have essentially no way of being backed up, and therefore would be exposed to long-duration outages.

MR. CROCKER:  In your material, you don't distinguish between or among the kinds of failures that can occur to these units, do you?

MR. PARADIS:  From our perspective, a failure, whether it be catastrophic or whether it leaves the customer without any redundancy of supply, still leaves our system in a state of higher exposure in terms of risk.  And as a result, we see a need in either of those cases to address the issue.

MR. CROCKER:  All right, but you'd agree with me, would you not, that if the unit just stops working, that you can do what it would otherwise do automatically?  You can have it done manually?

MR. PARADIS:  Actually, that's a clarification I should provide.

What happens when it fails in a non-catastrophic way is that the unit can no longer be switched back to another supply.  So it's essentially left with only one supply point and no ability to transfer back to any other sort of backup supply.

So it's not an issue as to whether or not it can be done automatically; it's an issue as to whether or not it can be done at all.

MR. CROCKER:  So you are suggesting to me that I am wrong, that it can't be done manually, the switching can't be done manually?

MR. PARADIS:  That's my understanding.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Not mine, but okay.

Many of these units were either fully or partially paid for by the customer which they serve, weren't they?

MR. PARADIS:  It's my understanding that those units were installed and paid for by the utility at the time.

MR. CROCKER:  So I am wrong again?  No, customers didn't contribute to the costs of these?  You don't have any contracts with these customers to keep these units in place?

MR. PARADIS:  My understanding is that those are units that we own and were installed as per the utility practice at that time.  So I do not believe we have contractual arrangements regarding the type of supply that's available at those locations.

MR. CROCKER:  And are you suggesting that there wasn't any capital contribution made by the customer at the time of their installation?

MS. BYRNE:  We are not able to speak to the past practices or the past economics.  We are currently talking about assets that are currently owned by Toronto Hydro.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  So you don't know whether they were, in fact, paid for or partially paid for by customers originally?

MS. BYRNE:  What I can generally speak to is what our current practices are for where contributions may be required from customers for connections that wouldn't be feasible.  But whether or not these specific units had any contribution required at the time, we don't have that knowledge.

MR. CROCKER:  And therefore can you say to me whether you are able to satisfy your customers and not replace these units with automatic switch units, but manual switch units at this point?

MR. PARADIS:  What we are proposing to do is maintain existing levels of reliability.

MR. CROCKER:  But you understand the point of my question.  If that level of reliability was caused by a specific customer requiring it and in fact paying for it or partially paying for it, and that customer doesn't need it anymore, you could -- there is a cheaper option?

MR. PARADIS:  I think we might need to differentiate between customer reliability requirements and just existing system configuration and the associated reliability of that configuration.  So what we are proposing to do is to maintain the existing reliability of the system as it's currently configured.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that.  That's the second time you have told me that.  I think I understood it the first time.  I definitely understand it the second time.

But what I am trying to understand is whether that's necessary or not, or whether that's a choice you are making.  Can you or can you not tell me whether customers have complained about the failure of these switches and whether you are satisfying specific customer needs, as well as maintaining existing reliability?  Do you know that?

And, in addition, have you looked at deferring some of the cost of this by, again, going back to the customers who are served by these units?

MR. PARADIS:  So the proposal for replacement is not as a result of customer concerns.  The replacement is driven by some of the failures that we have experienced and the impact it had on our system and the overall reliability of the system.

MR. CROCKER:  Do you have in place a policy where you are supplying a customer with this redundancy of -- when you supply it and when you don't?  Is there a policy in place?

MS. BYRNE:  The policy that we do have is our conditions of service, which is a document publicly available.  That's our overall policy for service, in general.

Specific customers will have the different service configurations as a result of the different types of system configurations that exist within the Toronto Hydro system.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, I won't pursue this any further.  We will go to your material, and then argue the point when it becomes necessary.

Let's move on to 13.1, station switchgear, municipal, and transformer stations.  And I am not sure how you have broken out the costs here, but it looks to me like the cost for both 13.1 and 13.2 was originally 19.35 million, and then -- in 2012, and then 18.76 million in 2013, and then the revised was 1.73 million in 2012 and 21.81 million in 2013.

I think I have followed the lines across properly, and you can -- I can't tell from this how you have broken it out between 13.1 and 13.2 and perhaps you tell me, if you know?

MR. SIMPSON:  The figures you referenced are correct between the original and updated filing.  The details are in the evidence in each section, 13.1 and 13.2.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Telemetry and SCADA equipment are a significant part of this, at least of 13.1.  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. SIMPSON:  The associated communication and control costs are within each job, along with the switchgear.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And would I be correct in suggesting to you that in some of these MSs, they already have SCADA equipment or are SCADA ready?  They are SCADA ready, if I can put it that way?

MR. SIMPSON:  Some of the legacy equipment will not have the features that we would wish to have today.  They may be older electrical mechanical relays.  They may or may not have communication.  Can you be more clear with your question?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, would some of them have that capability, that equipment?

MR. SIMPSON:  Depending on the station, yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that most of the switchgear breaker installations could be made SCADA ready using existing controls and telemetry?

MR. SIMPSON:  We would need to examine that at each case, and that is done during detailed design.  There will be instances where we can reuse existing infrastructure, and some cases where the legacy system is obsolete and cannot be reused.

MR. CROCKER:  How have you built that into your cost, your proposed spend?

MR. SIMPSON:  So the job scope has been developed with site review and costed on the best, you know, experience and judgment of the engineers involved, and those associated communication and SCADA costs are included.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  But you have just agreed with me that they may not be necessary in all cases; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Where we can reuse existing SCADA points or communication, we do so.

MR. CROCKER:  Right, but that has not been factored into the costs that you -- or the dollars that you propose to spend on this item, has it?

MR. SIMPSON:  It has been considered and it will be refined in detailed design, but we believe it's a reasonable estimate in front of you.

MR. CROCKER:  I will argue the point.  I won't go over it with you again.

The safety risk which is causing you to support replacement of these units is called unexpected auto-reclosures, isn't it?  That's correct, isn't it?

MR. SIMPSON:  Which section are you referring to, sir?

MR. CROCKER:  I am looking at our compendium -- I am told it's not there, it's not in the material that we produced.  And you can agree or disagree with my supposition.

MR. SIMPSON:  The question I heard was:  Are we having auto-reclosure problems with some of the equipment?  Yes, we are.

MR. CROCKER:  And that's a control -- a wiring -- a control wiring design problem; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  I would disagree.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?

MR. SIMPSON:  Some of the legacy equipment, its mechanical features due to the age and design are exhibiting some of these problems with reclosure, and that may or may not be related to a wiring or a control sent.

MR. CROCKER:  And at this point, you don't know, without your -- whoever is going to be doing this doesn't know or don't know until they examine each unit specifically?  Is that what you are saying to me?

MR. SIMPSON:  We have seen instances in the population of this equipment where we are having some of these automatic reclosure problems.

So we know it exists.  We are trying to mitigate to an extent with maintenance.

MR. CROCKER:  But what I asked you was whether that was a wiring design problem, and you said you disagreed, but then you didn't tell me why you disagreed.

MR. SIMPSON:  The issue may be a wiring or a mechanical issue with the equipment itself.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.

MR. SIMPSON:  It will depend on each failure mode.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And if it's a wiring problem, it can be corrected less expensively than if it's the second problem you described; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  I believe it's more accurate that the problems are mechanical in nature, and where they can be addressed by wiring changes, they are, in our general maintenance.  It's more a mechanical problem.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  What is your expectation of the likelihood of failure of these systems within the next two years?  Do you have that number?  Have you established that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Subject to check, I don't believe we have reported that in our evidence.  I don't think we have those figures.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  I didn't either, so that's good.

How are you handling problems with this the switchgear now?  As part of your maintenance program, how are you dealing with problems?

What I am going to suggest to you is what you are doing is having your maintenance people tag the problem for -- to be acted on in the future; do you agree with that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our maintenance schedule has been reviewed for this equipment, and we are getting out regularly to inspect and maintain it.

MR. CROCKER:  Right.  And describe to me the tagging I am talking about.  What am I talking about?

I could tell you, but I wouldn't do it accurately.  You can.

MR. SIMPSON:  The tag procedure takes it out of service if our crew find an issue.

MR. CROCKER:  Why can't that -- rather than replacing, as you propose to do, why can't that procedure continue so that you can deal with the problems on an individual basis, rather than presuming that there will be problems where they may not exist?

MR. SIMPSON:  The maintenance alone is not sufficient.  The equipment age and condition and the challenge we have getting the spare parts for it and the nature of the failure when they do occur is of high impact.  And so we believe it's important to get at this population and change them out at their end-of-life and condition is poor.

MR. CROCKER:  But when I asked you whether you have predicted failures in the way I asked it, you say not -- you haven't done that, you haven't produced that material.

You are choosing to deal with the issue in the way you are dealing with it.  The way you are dealing with it now in terms of maintaining and tagging out those units that are not functioning properly could continue, could it not?

MR. SIMPSON:  That approach would erode service and reliability.  You are taking away the contingency within each station if you choose that.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  But you said that you haven't predicted that there will be failures to the point that the units that you want to replace need to be replaced.  You agreed with me that you haven't done that.

MR. SIMPSON:  We anticipate failures.  What I stated is we haven't included a forecast for that.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, do you have a forecast that you haven't included, that you know of?

MR. SIMPSON:  Our experience of two other failures in the stations illustrates that this is a concern for us and that this population is at its end.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, but -- that's fine and I understand your position.  You've said it to me several times in slightly different ways.

But to go back to my original question, do you have a forecast, or is this anecdotal?  And if you have a forecast, why didn't you produce it?

MR. SIMPSON:  My understanding is that we don't have one.  I will research that for you as an undertaking.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  J4.2.
UNDERTAKING NO. J4.2:  to CONFIRM WHETHER THESL HAS AN END-OF-LIFE FORECAST.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  All right, let's go on to 13.2.  And if we could turn -- if you could turn, please, to page 17 of the compendium that we have produced, am I correct in suggesting that the - and this is revised, I think - avoided estimated risk cost for this item is $42.007 million?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  And we are talking, generally speaking, of the same equipment as we were talking about in 13.2, but this equipment operates at a higher voltage?

MR. SIMPSON:  Generally.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Do you have any forecast again of the probability of this equipment failing in the next two years?

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you for your patience.  The model results that are shown include the probability and risk for that asset class and population and specific job, and so the condition and other factors that feed into that are included.

I do not have the data at hand for the predicted number of failures in the next two years, but that underlying information informs the model and is used for our calculations.

MR. CROCKER:  I am not sure your underlying data would help us much.  I don't know whether we would be able to understand it.  But we should have, I would think, the information on which you based this so that we can understand whether your proposal to replace as many units as you are, as much equipment as you propose, is reasonable or something which is something you want to do, which makes it discretionary.

What do you have that we can evaluate?  What do you have on which we can evaluate that, that we haven't got in front of us?  For instance, do you have maintenance results which would indicate that the switchgear equipment is rapidly decaying?

MR. SIMPSON:  There are several factors which are driving the selection of this job, and that is in the business case.  Where available, the asset condition is used.  We continue to improve the site inspection and monitoring and asset condition for this equipment, and that continues to inform the model.

We have used our experience and site review for this equipment in the FIM model for each job and segment.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  But, once again, I need to know whether there is information beyond that which you have which helps us understand the basis on which you - "you" meaning Toronto Hydro - made this decision.

So specifically, then, do you have maintenance results which indicate that the equipment is decaying?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Crocker, I take it from the witness's response that it's not in the evidence.  Are you asking for the production of things at this stage?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, it isn't in the evidence.  I am just trying to understand what there is that we can use to evaluate the decision-making process; that's all.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think the answers are going to that point, and I think it's been described.  I am asking, at this point, if you are asking for the production of further documents to support this, my point being that we are in the hearing now.  There has been an IR process.

These are very narrow and detailed questions that you are asking on specific matters.  We have had a technical conference and we have had a round of interrogatories, and I am just wondering if you can be satisfied with the answers that you are given and the general nature of them, or are you asking for further documents?

MR. CROCKER:  I am not sure whether there -- I was sort of sequencing my questions.  I don't know whether there were further documents, and so I don't -- and so that was my first question, and I haven't sort of -- I don't think I have had an answer to whether there are.

And, if there are, perhaps we should see them, but if there aren't, there aren't, and we make our -- we argue on the basis of what we have.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I think what the Board would consider, irrespective of whether there are documents or not, is whether or not the Board considers it valuable to the extent or to have any kind of -- it won't be probative value.  It will be beyond that, whether that information coming onto the record is going to be of assistance the Board and whether or not we have to delay.

My main point here is the delay that may be ensued.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand.  I am in the Board's hands.  I am prepared to move on at this point.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  I'd like to move on to B14, please.  Mr. Chair, I am not sure, in light of the fact that we started at 9:00 this morning, when you would prefer to break.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Around 10:30 would probably be appropriate.  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  That's fine.  B14 is station infrastructure and equipment.  It's under that broad heading, and you have -- we are dealing with station circuit breakers.  Originally, you were to spend 1.37 million in 2012 and 1.8 million in 2013, and your revised proposal is 0.76 million in 2012 and 0.55 in 2013, so this is not a huge item.

Once again, would you agree with me that age of the equipment is the primary factor here in why you want to replace that which you do want to replace?

MR. SIMPSON:  Age is an important factor, along with the condition.  For this asset, in particular, the nature of the failure and the collateral damage when it does fail is also a large factor.
 
MR. CROCKER:  Your prefiled material -- some of which we have produced in the compendium starting at page 19 and moving forward -- doesn't deal to any extent, I suggest, with the condition of the equipment.  Would you agree with that?

MR. SIMPSON:  The condition does come into play in our considerations.

MR. CROCKER:  Yes, I understand that, but you would agree with me that you don't spend a great deal of time talking about that in your material?  You talk about age more; you don't talk about that.

I can ask you a specific question.  How many of these breakers do you expect to fail over the next two years?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have the figures at hand, but that is inherent, again, in the FIM, in the model inputs, as far as establishing the risk.

MR. CROCKER:  We don't have that information before us?

MR. SIMPSON:  I don't have it available.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Let's go to B-15.

B-15 is station control and communication equipment, 1.15 million in 2012 and 2.15 million in 2013, and then revised to be 0.14 and one million in 2012 and 2013 respectively; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  That appears correct.

MR. CROCKER:  And this project is primarily about fibre-optic equipment, isn't it?  To provide transfer trip protection to reduce the number of customers who might be affected by an outage?

MR. SIMPSON:  The two main aspects to this segment, one is the communication backbone, the fibre, and also the remote terminal units at some of the end devices.

MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with me, would you not, that -- I will ask a preliminary question.

This project is to provide redundancy, is it not?

MR. SIMPSON:  The communications are essential in tying together our assets, especially the station assets, so that they can be operated remotely and automatically.  And so there are areas where our communication backbone is limited and singular in nature, and we are looking to improve that redundancy, that "N – 1," to guard against things such as high hoe cutting into the communication trunk and knocking us out.

MR. CROCKER:  Redundancy is required by -- a certain amount of redundancy is required by the Transmission System Code, isn't it?  You would agree with that?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes, and good engineering practice.

MR. CROCKER:  And we assume that that redundancy was built into the system when it was built?  That is the required redundancy in the Transmission System Code?

MR. SIMPSON:  The nature of the communication links continues to evolve over time and so our network has to also evolve over time.

The number of redundant pass is impacted by the volume of information and the number of data points, and that is where we are running up against challenges today, as well.

MR. CROCKER:  Are you suggesting that the requirement that -- well, let's take it step by step.

You would agree that the system was built in compliance with the Transmission System Code; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  There are two features to consider here.  One is the Transmission System Code, and the other is the Distribution System Code.

And to the extent some of these assets are joint with our colleagues at Hydro One, those investment decisions are coordinated.

So I think it's unfair to characterize it as being out of step with the TSC, but more fair to characterize it that the network continues to evolve, and provide the redundancy that's necessary.

MR. CROCKER:  I wasn't suggesting that it was out of step.  What I was going to suggest to you is if it was built in compliance with the Code -- and I assumed that it was -- why wasn't that redundancy good enough for you now? Why are you proposing to increase that redundancy now?

MR. SIMPSON:  It's important to remember that the communication network in place needs to add capability, and so something that may have been adequate five, 10 years ago may not serve the requirement today.  And it has been an intent or program element for us to continue to improve that communication backbone.  Why?  Because this will lower the outage and improve the restoration times.

MR. CROCKER:  I understand that.  What I'd suggest to you is that's a choice that Toronto Hydro can make.  And I understand you want to make that choice, but it seems to me that if you choose to go beyond the requirements of the code, then that's your exercise of discretion, therefore making this project discretionary.

MR. SIMPSON:  I disagree.  If we choose not to make these investments, then we are eroding the reliability that the system presently has.

MR. CROCKER:  Well, the kind of example of eroding reliability, I think, is -- we reproduce at page 26 of the compendium, where you talk in the middle paragraph on that page about a problem that you had which lasted for six and a half hours.

Are you with me?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  You don't specifically indicate what the cause of that problem was, and I can't relate that problem to what you are proposing to do here.  Can you help me?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  That example on page 26 is an instance where we had zero communication to that area of the network, and the existing path or paths were compromised.  And that is the impact of that signal.

MR. CROCKER:  So the redundancy required by the transmission code didn't help you in this situation?  Or how is it -- I can't relate what you are proposing to do here to the problem that you are describing on that page.

MR. SIMPSON:  There is interpretation required in the degree of redundancy.

If we have two paths in the same, you know, duct structure or communication link, those are still exposed to signal events.  If we have two separate paths, then we are better protected.  So, with respect, there is still interpretation in the requirements of the TSC and DSC.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay, I will leave that and we will argue the point.

Do you consider nuisance failures in determining how much redundancy you need?  By that, I mean momentary outages and that kind of thing.

MR. SIMPSON:  At the station level, we are not generally considering those.  It's more addressing the long-term outages that are over a minute.

MR. CROCKER:  So you consider -- do you restrict your consideration to those outages which require you, meaning Toronto Hydro, to spend money, send out a crew, that kind of thing?  Is that what you are limiting your consideration --


MR. SIMPSON:  Could you rephrase that, please?

MR. CROCKER:  Yes.  Do you limit the outages you consider, in terms of the failures that you are quantifying here in determining that you need this redundancy that you are asking for -- do you limit the outages that you are considering to those which require Toronto Hydro to send out a crew to spend money and time?

MR. SIMPSON:  Some of the improvements will affect both the momentary and the longer term outages, so I am not following your question, really.

MR. CROCKER:  What I am asking you, in determining -- you have asked for an approval to spend a certain amount of money to build in some redundancy to your system beyond what the code requires, and your rationale for requesting that redundancy is it's to respond to failures in the system so that you can limit the impact of those failures by -- with switching equipment or communications equipment which allows you to do that switching.

What I am asking you is whether -- what failures are you considering as -- in requiring or asking for this approval of this project are only failures where Toronto Hydro has to send out a crew, spend money and send out a crew or -- and I asked you originally whether you included nuisance failures, and you said no.

So I just need to know what you are wanting to respond to here.

MR. SIMPSON:  Again, the improvements will address both momentary and long-term outages.  My understanding is only the latter have been factored into the cost benefit, if you will, for this work.

MR. CROCKER:  And you understand that in some situations, particularly with respect to the members of the client that I am representing, there is no real distinction between the significance of a momentary outage and a long-term outage, and this particular project is not going to assist in that regard?

MR. SIMPSON:  I disagree.  It will benefit both momentary and long-term outages.  It's the nature of that communication network.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chair, it's almost 10:30 and I was going to move on to a different project.  It's maybe a reasonable time to break.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's do a time check, Mr. Crocker.

MR. CROCKER:  I would say I am about three-quarters through, perhaps a bit more.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, fine.  Thank you.  We will resume at ten to 11:00.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:27 a.m.


--- On resuming at 10:53 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  We will deal with the matter of the undertaking that we discussed this morning at the start.

The Panel has deliberated on that, and balancing the desire to have the information for Mr. Rubenstein and the areas that he is wanting to cover, and balancing that against the task and the time that it may take and the effort required to dig deep on that and the details, the Panel has determined that it is appropriate that we go at the higher, broader level, providing the type of information that was discussed yesterday as an example that was provided, and the -- on the historic spending, with all the caveats and further narrative that would describe how those activities differ from what is intended in the ICM projects as they are described now.  So that people can get the view of what the directional spendings and the like-for-like and the distinguishing features of these.

There is one area that Mr. Rubenstein did mention that it seemed to -- struck the Panel as being one that could be dealt with in the detailed fashion, and that was the one on B-20 on metering.  And that is one that we would like to have, to the extent that it is possible.  We feel that on that narrow one, that it is likely doable that we can get the detailed version of that and do a comparison in the spending on that activity.

Okay?  Thank you very much.

Mr. Crocker?  And be mindful of your original estimate, Mr. Crocker.  You are intending to be another 20 minutes or so?

MR. CROCKER:  As you know, Mr. Chair, this depends little on the question and much more on the answer, but I hope we will be able to do it in half an hour.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  Or less.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. CROCKER:  I would like to turn the panel to project B-16, downtown station load transfers.

Originally, a million 15 in 2012 to 15 in 2013, revised to 0.68 million in 2012 and 2.14 in 2013.

You would agree with me that this project is to provide an increased degree of diversity in the downtown system?

MR. SIMPSON:  This segment is intended to address a gap we see today, which is for certain high-impact failures we have no backup.

MR. CROCKER:  I suggest to you that the downtown core of the GTA provides the most reliable service in the country presently.  Do you agree with that?

MR. SIMPSON:  There is a reasonable level of reliability in the downtown system at present.  We see some risks on the horizon for that.

MR. CROCKER:  Take a look, please, at page 28 of the compendium.  Over the period of time that this chart, the table, whatever it is, depicts between 2002 and 2011, there has been a 70 percent reduction in customer hours of interruption; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  You may be misinterpreting the data.

Figure 4 on page 28 shows that if we had downtown load transfer facilities in place, we would have been able to provide a 70 percent reduction in those outages during that period.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Well, I did misinterpret.  All right.

The data that figure 4 depicts deals with customer duration interruptions, which you have shortened to CDI, and customer interruptions, just CI; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  Yes.  Those are the right definitions.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you used that, the data that you have described that way, to support other projects you are looking for here?

MR. SIMPSON:  The inputs for the FIM in most of the segments include those customer outage information.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And is it causing you -- that's not -- are you relying on this information to seek other upgrades in this long list of programs you are seeking -- for which you are seeking approval?

MR. SIMPSON:  Which list are you referring to?

MR. CROCKER:  The list that I start every -- the "Summary of capital program," that list of projects.

MR. SIMPSON:  The jobs within this segment, B-16?

MR. CROCKER:  No.  I will ask the question again.  Sorry if I wasn't clear.

Are you using this CDI and CI data to support your request for the spend you are asking in any other of these programs listed on -- under the heading "Summary of capital program"?

MR. SIMPSON:  I just want to confirm my understanding of your question.

Are we using CDI and CI inputs in any of the other segments?

MR. CROCKER:  That is what I am asking, yes.

MR. SIMPSON:  Thank you for your patience.

In general, those inputs are included in the other segment FIM and business cases.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Would implementing the program described at B-16 impact favourably, improve the failure rate of customer outage duration of CDI in the study area to such a degree that other of your capital projects would be influenced?

MR. SIMPSON:  Each of the business cases is stand-alone and deals with the cost benefits for that study area.  I believe your question is:  Can we reduce the CDI enough with this B16?  This is an early application of the program --


MR. CROCKER:  Finish your thought.  Finish your thought.  Finish the thought that you were about to make, because that's my question.

MR. SIMPSON:  Restate your question.

MR. CROCKER:  No, no, you restate your thought.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Crocker, I think the witness can answer in the fashion that they were about to.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.

MR. SIMPSON:  Each model is attempting to work with the inputs for that area of study and the associated cost benefit and reliability for each of those study areas.  The complete application of the B16 some years down the road is likely to affect some of those CDI numbers.

MR. CROCKER:  And affect them positively; in other words, bring them down?

MR. SIMPSON:  For some specific instances, yes.  Yeah.  It depends on the nature of the failure and the equipment involved.

MR. CROCKER:  And can you tell me what other specific projects that that might influence which would make them either necessary or less expensive?

MR. SIMPSON:  The need or the risk for this -- that this segment is working to improve is for a type of failure which, even if we made all those other component, switchgear, breaker upgrades, at each station, is not addressed in the other segments.  So our argument is this is needed despite the other work.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  If we could go, then, please, to B19, B19 is -- you call it feeder automation.  It was to be 2 million -- 2.3 million in 2012, 20.66 in 2013, and has been revised -- sorry, those are the revised numbers.

The original numbers were to be 7.82 and 16.3 for 2012 in each case and 2013, respectively; correct?

MR. SIMPSON:  That is correct.

MR. CROCKER:  You would agree with me this is a relatively high-cost item with a high cost-to-benefit ratio, I suggest to you?

MR. KERR:  Yes, the cost-benefit ratio is very high for the feeder automation.

MR. CROCKER:  This is my understanding of the program, and I invite you to correct me if I am wrong, and more likely when I am wrong.  It is to provide to a computer information so that it can respond to an asset failure to allow for a reduced response time for a failure for a particular customer; is that fair?

MR. KERR:  I think that's fair.  If I could just clarify, it's not as if all this information gets fed back to one central computer somewhere.  The idea is to take that level of intelligence and actually embed it on the switches.  So each switch basically has software programmed into it, and then the switches can communicate with each other.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  We have produced material both from the IRs and your responses to them, and from your pre-filed material on this point, in the compendium starting at I think page 30, and I don't see anything in there which deals with any effort by Toronto Hydro to deal with the causes, what might be the causes of these outages or failures.  Am I correct?

While you are discussing this, I can make my editorial comment.  It's the problem I have with the Canadian Cancer Society.  They always talk about responding to a problem and only recently are beginning to talk about prevention.  That's my editorial comment.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is that a submission?

MR. CROCKER:  I should also say, Mr. Chair, Mr. Faye in his cross-examination introduced this subject to this program.

MR. KERR:  I am actually very glad you bring up that point, because you are correct.  We talked about -- the questions from Energy Probe talked about potential mitigation work, and I made a note to point out that in one of the interrogatories not all of the potentially mitigating actions would, in effect, prevent breaker lockouts for which feeder automation is, by and large, the most prudent way to mitigate the reliability impact due to the breaker lockouts.

That's not to say that we are not cognizant of what the underlying causes are or that we don't want to address the underlying causes.  In our ICM application, we are talking specifically through the other segments about replacing assets which present risks to safety and reliability, but not all of the outages on these feeders that we are proposing to implement feeder automation on, not all those outages are caused by assets encompassed within the ICM application.

So in order to maintain current levels of reliability, implementing feeder automation is, by and large, the most prudent way to effectively mitigate future reliability degradation.

MR. CROCKER:  I don't want to nitpick, but when you say "prudent", it's in Toronto Hydro's opinion it's the most prudent; correct?

MR. KERR:  I'd say given the evidence -- you referred to the very high cost -- benefit-cost ratio.  Yes, we feel it's the most prudent way.

MR. CROCKER:  Give me some examples of the causes of these failures, because you have done nothing, as I say -- and you indicated, as well, there is nothing in here as preventative, methods of preventing these failures.  Failures are caused by simple things, animals, human error, simple things; correct?

MR. KERR:  I think the previous point I had made may be taken slightly out of context here.

What I said was that previous list of mitigating actions was not all possible causes or not all possible reasons that could cause a breaker to lock out.

We do mitigating actions such as insulator washing and IR scans and putting up tree-proof conductor.  Yes, those can mitigate breaker lockouts, but what I am saying there are other causes of breaker lockouts, and to mitigate the reliability impact of those other causes, feeder automation is the most prudent way to do that.

MR. CROCKER:  Have you done anything in order to quantify the kinds of things that are causing these lockouts, and what the cost of preventing them might be versus the high cost of responding to the failure or the lockout after it's happened?

And what I am suggesting to you is that there are -- I am not hiding anything here, obviously -- that there are much more cost-effective ways which -- to respond to this problem, if it is a problem, than the one you are proposing.

MR. KERR:  If I may refer in our evidence at tab 4, schedule B-19, page 12, so within the evidence for this business case, we did provide a listing of some of the incidents which had occurred in our system where our current feeder automation deployment had operated.

So just -- we were talking earlier about what types of things can happen in the system which would result in your breaker lockout and cause FA to basically activate.  So I think this table gives an idea of that.

With respect to the exact costs, we will take the first example, for instance.  We had a pole fire in one instance.  We don't have the exact costs of what it would take to prevent any future pole fires within the entire system, but I think I had mentioned -- again, with respect to the questions from Energy Probe, I think I had mentioned that we do do insulator washing, we do overhead IR inspections.  So obviously we try to make sure that those number of events are kept to a minimum through maintenance programs, but that's not to say that -- you know, events may happen which we were unable to detect, or there were unique circumstances that led to that event happening anyway, despite our best efforts.

MR. CROCKER:  In the interests of time, let's see if we can end this section quickly.

At the very best, this automated system will change a longer lockout to a shorter one; correct?

MR. KERR:  Yes.  Sorry, perhaps I should clarify there.

It won't impact the time required to fix the root cause of the outage, but for any customer not on the part of the feeder within that section where the root cause was, it will reduce the duration of outage to those customers.

MR. CROCKER:  You don't propose to spend any capital on this program to prevent the cause?  Directed to the cause of the problem?

MR. KERR:  There is spending directed to the cause, in that, you know, if the cause of the breaker lockout was a porcelain insulator failure, we are proposing within the overhead business case to address porcelain infrastructure.

If the cause was the failure of a porcelain gang switch, we also have those components listed in the overhead business case.

MR. CROCKER:  Mr. Chair, we will argue that by approaching this problem in this way, this is discretionary.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We look forward to that in your argument, then.

MR. CROCKER:  All right.  Let's move on to B-21.

The spend for this was originally to be 24.27 and 17.67 –- sorry... yes.  And has been revised to 10.16 and 24.84; correct?

MS. BYRNE:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And just so that I understand, these are projects that Toronto Hydro has to undertake because of third-party requests?  We want to build a street, extend a street, widen a street, you have to respond to that, that kind of thing; correct?

MS. BYRNE:  That kind of thing, correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  And with respect to most of the responses that you have described here, you have a like-for-like replacement; correct?

MS. BYRNE:  Generally correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  Not so at all for the Queens Quay project; correct?

MS. BYRNE:  Correct.

MR. CROCKER:  Can I find in the material some place a business case for the kind of, I will call it, expansion that you are proposing for that aspect of the Queens Quay aspect of things?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  Queens Quay is described in the business case, which is schedule B-21.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?

MS. BYRNE:  I will just flip to the detailed part of that.

So we have got some description on pages 9 and 10 for Queens Quay, continuing through page 17.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay?

MS. BYRNE:  And continuing past that for another couple of pages up until about page 21.

MR. CROCKER:  Can you quickly summarize for me, please, then, why you are not proposing a like-for-like replacement or response?

MS. BYRNE:  Essentially because of the growth of the area requires us to expand our capabilities.

MR. CROCKER:  Once again, in the interests of time, Mr. Chair, I think we will argue once again that this is discretionary, that Toronto Hydro has chosen to expand as opposed to is required to expand, but we will leave that for argument.

I would like to ask some more general questions, if I could, please.  If you could turn to the last page of the compendium?  Nobody asked by way of interrogatory, and there were no questions asked at the technical conference, with respect to the studies on which the numbers that you have in table 1 are based.

I would like at this point to ask for you to provide us the studies on which those numbers were based.  Sometimes hindsight is better than foresight, and I apologize on behalf of AMPCO for the lack of foresight, but it was shared at least, because nobody asked for them.

But for those numbers to be meaningful, I think we need have the studies.

MR. CASS:  Well, Mr. Chair, perhaps we would let the witnesses comment, but I would make the perhaps obvious comment, given the lead-in by Mr. Crocker, that these are things that could well have been asked for previously in this case.

It's not at all clear to me what good they will be to anybody now if they are produced and become available after this panel is off the stand.  I am not sure what anyone will do with these studies when there has been no opportunity for explanation of them by the witnesses, because it's been left until now to ask for their production.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Crocker?

MR. CROCKER:  Well, with respect, Mr. Chairman, these are simple reports and should be relatively easy to provide, and if they provide -- if they can't -- if they don't allow us to argue the context of the numbers, fine.  Then nothing is lost.  If they do, I think there is something gained and it will be helpful to the Board for us to contextualize the numbers.

MR. QUESNELLE:  One moment, please.  To Mr. Cass's point, Mr. Crocker, the Board agrees.  We don't see how, first of all, at this late date -- it may have been that had they been asked for it earlier and had the witnesses commented on their content and the context in which they should be positioned, that would be one thing.  But to receive them now, after the close of the ability to cross on these documents, I think it would -- may lead to more confusion than value as to exactly how these are being used, and I think that presents more risk than merit in having them produced.

So we are not inclined to compel the witness to -- the applicant to provide these.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you.  I understand.

I would like to ask some questions that we haven't covered in our compendium.  I wonder whether we could turn up VECC Interrogatory No. 28, please, and thank you.

It deals with Toronto Hydro's use of peak load when calculating the cost of customer interruptions.  I am not sure this is the appropriate part of it that's on, but I will ask my questions, anyway, and you people I am sure have it in front of you.

When you refer to peak load, do you -- are you referring to a measured historical peak load, the average load on the asset during peak hours throughout the year, or the peak capacity rating of the asset?

MR. KERR:  I believe that question is speaking specifically to the way in which FIM is using that number to do the calculations.  I believe it was panel 1A that's able to address the questions that specific on the feeder investment model.

So I don't think this panel can give the detailed answer to that question.

MR. CROCKER:  Okay.  My second question refers -- and I only have one other one -- two other ones beyond this.  The transcript, volume 2, page 131, line 14, Mr. Faye asked Mr. Kerr a question.  Mr. Faye asked him:
"What is your typical duct bank for this kind of application, direct-buried cable replacement?" 

And Mr. Kerr's answer was:
"So to say what is, you know, the typical size of the duct bank installed, it depends on, you know, is there a road crossing or not, how many feeders we're bringing through."


And, Mr. Kerr, you shouldn't feel badly.  All of us sound like we're illiterate when we read what we've said on the transcript.  Then you say:
"I know that for our duct banks, the smallest size we have is a one-by-four." 


My question is:  Is this the smallest size duct bank that you use?

MR. KERR:  I believe, with respect to the smallest duct bank that we have, would be to have a duct bank essentially with four ducts.  Whether or not it's one-by-four or two-by-two, that may need to be subject to check, but I am fairly certain the smallest duct bank possible to -- the smallest duct bank that we'd ever use would be a four-duct bank.

With respect to -- you brought up the discussion -- the questions from Mr. Faye.  What I did neglect to mention, an oversight on my part during that discussion, is that I believe we had been talking specifically about an example used in an interrogatory response where we said a typical duct bank is a two-by-three, and we were talking about reasons for using a two-by-three duct bank.  And I had listed a lot of reasons as to why we would need ducts for primary cable, but I neglected to talk about things like the secondary cables that also go in the duct bank.  If new street lighting goes up, a duct could be used for the street lighting circuits.

So, in practicality, when you factor those sorts of things in, though it would be possible to have something like a two-by-two or a one-by-four duct bank, I think those would typically only be used if you are essentially taking a lateral feed off to feed a single-point customer.  Whereas the distribution loops would typically be larger duct banks, because there are other things that go in the duct bank; like I said, the secondary bus and street lighting circuits, things of that nature.

MR. CROCKER:  I have one further question.  I am asking it on behalf of Mr. Rubenstein, who forgot to ask it.  I will read it, as opposed to interpret it.

On page 40 of the SEC 2B compendium, there was excerpted from -- I am sorry, page 50, from the 2011 cost of service application -- that's EB-2010-0142 -- from your smart grid section, and it talks about feeder automation.

On line 15-16, it says that:

"THESL anticipated this demonstration will go live in October 2010.  Essentially in their 2011 application, feeder automation was a demonstration project, and now for 2012/2013 they claim it is a non-discretionary project.  How did it jump so quickly from a demonstration pilot project to being non-discretionary?"

MR. KERR:  If I may refer back to a table from the feeder automation business case, tab 4, schedule B-19, page 12, as we can see at the bottom of this table, the CHI and CI saved by the demonstration project of feeder automation alone is quite substantial in terms of system reliability.

As we discussed earlier, within the ICM application we are targeting assets which have safety risks associated or high risks to fail and cause outages, but there are also other reasons.  Aside from addressing these assets in the ICM application, there's other reasons for degradation to reliability, and what we are saying is by implementing feeder automation on select feeders, it is the most prudent, cost-effective way to mitigate the reliability impact due to not only the other causes of failure, but to -- take, for instance, we talked about porcelain gang switches as an example.  And we have essentially more in the system than we can replace in a two-year period.  It is non-discretionary that those switches need to be replaced, but there is simply more to do.

We recognize that in the current application we have proposed to replace the ones that need to be done in '12 and '13, but we also recognized that there is other risks on the horizon for the system.  And by implementing feeder automation on select feeders, it is the most prudent and cost-effective way to mitigate the reliability impact, not just due to those equipment failures, but due to other events in the system, as well.

MR. CROCKER:  But just to follow up, that doesn't describe how feeder automation goes from being a pilot project to the non-discretionary choice in two years?

MR. KERR:  Typically when we are introducing new technologies or equipment to our system, we would what we call pilot or trial the equipment first, which is what we have done with the feeder automation in 2010.

I don't -- I don't see that there would be any sort of time restrictions which would prevent one from determining that a technology or piece of equipment is valuable to the system.

And as we see in table 2 on page 2, feeder automation has the potential to mitigate large amounts of customers interrupted and customer hours interrupted.

So I really don't see how just because it was a pilot project one year, that that would not mean that it's a valuable technology to deploy further in a subsequent year.

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, panel.

Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I have nothing further.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Crocker.

Ms. Hare has some questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  There is only one area I would like to follow up on, and it's to do with the cost-sharing arrangements when you have to relocate or expand due to third parties.  So, Ms. Byrne, I think this is for you.

As I understand your evidence, where you are relocating because of rail corporations, it's set; there is no negotiation, you pay 100 percent.  Is that correct?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  Typically, the crossing agreements that have been put in place historically for rail lands, the rail company is very -- well, the conditions that they impose on the utilities crossing their lands is that utilities will pay 100 percent of the cost of the relocation.

MS. HARE:  And the rail corporations include both GO Transit and Metrolinx?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  And also these lands originally were typically owned by CN and CP, so the agreements, from my understanding, in most cases are actually with those original rail companies.  And then if the land has changed hands, those documents have transferred ownership with the ownership of the assets.

MS. HARE:  And the second category that you talk about is the road authority, and those include both Ministry of Transportation and the city.  And there, there is a formula spelled out: 50 percent labour, 50 percent equipment, 100 percent material that you pay for; correct?

MS. BYRNE:  Correct.

MS. HARE:  So your evidence talks about a negotiation.  What is it to negotiate, then?  Is it -- let me go on a little bit, because Mr. Crocker introduced Queens Quay.

Will they only pay 50 percent of like-to-like replacement, so if you do something additional, will they still pay 50 percent of the equipment and labour?  Or will they want you to show what it would cost if it was only like-to-like?

MS. BYRNE:  Yes.  So I will answer both using Queens Quay, and also I will use the PATH as an example.

So the position, usually, of the road authority is that they will pay for those portions if it were to be like-for-like, but not any expansion.

And so Queens Quay is an area where we know that replacing in kind is not sufficient, and so their portion for the relocation is very small in comparison to the total cost of the job, because they will pay 50 percent of the in-kind for those categories.

Another area for negotiation, and I will use the PATH as an example, is where it is the City of Toronto doing the work and they are the road authority.  And our position has been that the PATH itself is not the road, it's -- it affects the road, and so our position with that is that the city should pick up those costs.

And that is the kind of starting point for our negotiations and discussions, and we usually land somewhere in between.

MS. HARE:  Sorry, the PATH is the sidewalk?

MS. BYRNE:  It's the underground tunnel system.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  And where does Waterfront Toronto fit in, in terms of the split of costs?

MS. BYRNE:  So Waterfront Toronto's position is that they have been assigned road authority rights by the City of Toronto.  We see it a bit differently, and so there are still some ongoing discussions with Waterfront Toronto where, since they are actually set up and owned by all three levels of government, we are not convinced that the application of Public Service Works On Highways Act, or the adoption of that by them, is necessarily correct.

However, in the interests of moving ahead with the work, we have put aside some of our disagreement to get the project going.

MS. HARE:  And so you would intend to split that work the same as you would if they were a road authority, like the 50 percent, 50 percent and 100 percent?

MS. BYRNE:  Actually, the original intent is that -- my position personally is that they are not a road authority.  We should treat them similarly to the way we treat TTC, which is requiring them to pay 100 percent.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  So that's an ongoing discussion?

MS. BYRNE:  It is, yes.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  One other area, and it will just take a few minutes.  I would just like to ask this panel for some input on its considerations.

I am referring to the manager's summary, the original.  This would be page 18.  You referred to the safety considerations that are pertinent to need, and there is a listing there.  From lines 20 through to lines 27 is the area I am interested in discussing.

I am just waiting for that to come up on the screen.

To the extent -- and you can apply this to quite a few different projects that you are speaking of in the replacement of the assets and the use of these controls, and as your evidence states, it is your contention that a lot of the asset replacement is supported by and substantiated by the concerns for safety and the elimination of the hazard as being the highest control, highest order of control on the list that's shown here.

And I just want to get your thoughts on the hazard itself.  I am thinking of things like box construction, for instance.  And when you say that you have to replace the asset in that it's the most sure way to eliminate a hazard, I would like to understand what the difference is between a box construction and the safety risk involved in that, and what you plan on replacing it with as far as another overhead circuit and how the replacement of that asset actually removes the inherent hazard?

MR. PARADIS:  So if I could take you to page 19 of our ICM visual support document?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I have that.

MR. PARADIS:  So on -- well, either the left or the right side, you have what would be a typical example of the box construction that's currently in service in our system.  And as we discussed in the evidence earlier this week, one of the challenges with working with this infrastructure is the issue associated with clearances between circuits and the difficulties in terms of working around the infrastructure to address any problem that may arise.

The replacement option, as discussed during our exchange with Energy Probe, is to go to a higher voltage standard, which would, as a result, reduce the number of circuits required to supply the area.

So you would typically see a three-to-one ratio in terms of circuits.  So in a box construction, where you would currently have six circuits, for example, you would most likely end up with a 13.8 construction that has, at most, two circuits on the overhead infrastructure, which at that point minimizes the challenges associated with separation between circuits and clearances.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So what do you see is the hazard?  Let's hone down on that.  The construction itself, the hazard is the fact that it is energized, is it not?

MR. PARADIS:  Maybe if I could point you to page 17 first.  So this would be a situation where one of our employees is required to do work on the box installation as it exists.

So there may be cases where the requirement is such that our worker is positioned and has to reach to get to the infrastructure on the opposite side of the construction.  So there is some challenges with the basic construction in terms of our ability to reach the equipment, if you will.

And a sort of comparator to that type of construction would be on page 21 on the lower left side where the conversion has occurred and the resulting system is much simpler in nature.  So there would be an improvement in terms of risk simply from going from a more complex situation to a simpler construction, if you will.

Back to your original question of the inherent risk associated with simply having overhead infrastructure energized, that would remain, of course, as there is an inherent risk associated with high tension distribution.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So if the risk remains common, the manner in which you deal with the risk is different, though, is what I am understanding from you.  I guess my point is - and I am asking you to comment on this - are your workers at less risk with the new construction, or does it just take less steps to make them safe?

MR. PARADIS:  I think it's fair to say that the exposure to risk is decreased if we go from a more complex structure to a simpler structure.  

The -- again going back to your point, the nature of the distribution remains, in the sense that there will always be risk associated with high-voltage or medium-voltage distribution, but the opportunity to move to a simpler construction reduces the exposure to that risk.

And if I may add, an additional risk reduction opportunity is, of course, in terms of addressing aged assets that are currently at or beyond their useful life in terms of the box system itself, as well.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So would that be a risk to the public safety, as well as worker safety, I take it?

MR. PARADIS:  Yes, I think that's fair to say.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And just to spend another moment on this, the personal -- going to the bottom of the hierarchy here in the controls, the personal protective equipment, I think your photos show that the use of -- I believe there is a photo here that shows –- yes, on page 20 -- the use of insulated gloves.  And there are other photos here that show the use of -- I think on page 19 there is some insulated cover-up on a section.  It doesn't look like it's being used for personal protection there, more equipment protection.

But that type of equipment is used in conjunction with the personal equipment to allow safe operation on any of these energized circuits, irrespective of the construction type; is that right?

MR. PARADIS:  Well, I think it's fair to say that whenever we do have an opportunity to limit the risk exposure to our workers, we will try to do that.  Whether it be by providing the best available PPE or whether it be by developing appropriate work measures or work practices, we will certainly try to do that where we can.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So in the box construction -- back to my earlier question as to whether or not it just takes longer and it is more difficult to keep your workers safe than on the simpler construction -- you would have to apply a lot of that rubber cover-up on all those additional circuits, and it would take time to do that.

But ultimately when your workers are doing the work, are they -- because the inherent risk remains the same, they are both energized before and after, is it the case that it is just more costly to keep a worker safe on the old construction versus the new construction?  Or are they actually at higher risk?

MR. PARADIS:  I have to just point out that I am no expert in the field of worker safety reduction, if you will, but I think it's fair to say that there is a bit of both.

So it is more complex, more time-consuming to try to prepare the work site for box construction compared to what would be required for 13.8 construction.

I would be inclined to say that simply having a reduction in the number of steps required to perform the work is beneficial in terms of worker safety, in terms of risk exposure.

MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine.  And I will point out I did ask at the outset, Mr. Cass, whether or not this panel could deal with the matters of safety and how they were looked at through asset replacement, and I think -- and I will take it that you do have safety experts on staff, and that it may have been helpful to be able to ask those witnesses the same question.

But I am satisfied with the responses, and I have nothing further on this.

Mr. Cass, any redirect?

MR. CASS:  No, I have no re-examination, Mr. Chair.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.  We have a scheduling issue today from the Board, and we are going to have to stop at 3:30 this afternoon.  So what I would propose is that we carry on for, say, another -- if we could do a switch of the -- introducing new panel and then we get started, and we will break from, say, around 12:30 to 1:30, and then we will go from 1:30 to 3:30 without a break.  So if that's satisfactory, we will do that.

I would like to thank this panel very much.  You have been on for quite some time, and I appreciate your forthright answers over the course of the last few days.  Thank you very much.  You are excused.

So if you are prepared to do this on the fly, Mr. Cass, we will just -- Okay.

MR. CASS:  I believe the witnesses are in the room, Mr. Chair, and can come forward now.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  And just a note while we are talking scheduling.  We will start again tomorrow morning at 9:00, so...

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, while the panel is getting ready, could we just -- another administrative matter

What is the Board's thoughts about intervenor argument?  I know Mr. Cass wants to give his orally tomorrow, but what do you plan for the rest of us?

MR. QUESNELLE:  We haven't landed on a solution on that.  We were going to take some submissions on that, and I guess from a timing perspective it would certainly be fine for -- and the Board accepts that we could, if the schedule permits, receive the argument in-chief orally tomorrow.

We were going to lay out a schedule on that.  Why don't we take the lunch break, and the Panel will discuss that?  And then we will start the afternoon with a further discussion on that.

MR. BLUE:  May I leave you with the city's thought that written argument filed by intervenors would probably be the most efficient way to proceed within a certain deadline next week?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we will talk about schedule, as well, but your suggestion is for written?  That's fine.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, I will introduce the next panel to the Board.

Sitting furthest from me is Wendy Cheah.  She is finance manager, distribution operations.

Next to her is Darryl Seal, manager of rates.

Then Colin McLorg, manager, regulatory policy and relations.

Finally, Todd Williams, who is a director with Navigant Consulting.

Thank you.
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Darryl Seal, Affirmed


Todd Williams, Affirmed


MR. QUESNELLE:  Whenever you're ready, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, sir.  Mr. Chair, first, before I come to a few questions for the witnesses, I just wanted to make some comments with respect to Mr. Williams.

It was originally my intention to qualify Mr. Williams as an expert witness.  It's my understanding that that would be potentially an issue.

Mr. Williams has testified before the Board previously.  In relation to Board proceedings, I don't think that the rules of evidence are applied as strictly as they are in courts, and Toronto Hydro appreciates that the Board at the end of this proceeding will give appropriate weight to all evidence, including appropriate weight to that of Mr. Williams.

In the interests of time and moving on with the proceeding and simply practicality, I don't propose to qualify Mr. Williams as an expert at this time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MR. CASS:  We will just proceed on that basis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, perhaps we will be interested in the -- obviously, the relationship, any engagement.  And exactly the interests that Mr. Williams is representing as a witness on the panel will have to become clear to the Board.  If he is not an expert in the sense of that word and its independence, we would like to understand the role and the responsibility that Mr. Williams is taking on this panel, then.
Examination in-chief by Mr. Cass:

MR. CASS:  Yes, it was my intention to ask each witness their role on the witness panel, Mr. Chair.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Perhaps I will start at the far end, though, with Ms. Cheah.  Can you explain to the Board, please, Ms. Cheah, your role in the evidence in this proceeding?

MS. CHEAH:  My participation in the pre-filed evidence right now is with respect to the presentation of the financial data as presented in the evidence.

MR. CASS:  And to the extent that you have been responsible for evidence in this proceeding, including technical conference evidence and answers to undertakings, and so on, that's accurate to the best of your information or belief?

MS. CHEAH:  My understanding, yes.

MR. CASS:  And you adopt that as your evidence in this proceeding?

MS. CHEAH:  I do.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Seal, what's your role in the evidence in this case?

MR. SEAL:  My role is preparation and population of the various IRM and ICM models that we have filed, as well as the calculation of the various rate adders and rate riders.

MR. CASS:  Do you have any corrections to your evidence?

MR. SEAL:  I have one small correction to an undertaking response that we provided.  That undertaking response was JT2.22.  We were asked to provide some additional information to a table we had provided in an interrogatory, and the values that we showed for 2011 net income and ROE reference another undertaking, JT2.15, and they don't actually match, so they should match.

The net income, then, should be $91.0 million, and the ROE, 9.679 percent.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And subject to that correction, Mr. Seal, is the evidence that you have given in this proceeding accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  And you adopt that as your in evidence this case?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Mr. McLorg, what about you?  What is your role in the evidence?

MR. McLORG:  My evidence focussed primarily on regulatory policy issues as they relate to THESL and this application.  If the Board wishes, I could provide a very brief summary of that, but, generally speaking, all that material is set out in the manager's summary and the addendum to the manager's summary in our application.

MR. CASS:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. McLorg.  Do you have corrections to your evidence?

MR. McLORG:  Just for the sake of having a clear record, I have just a handful of minor notes that I would like to make, and the first one appears at tab 2, the addendum to the manager's summary.  It's on page 3 of 17.

These are in the nature of just coordinating what I found on final review with some of the undertaking updates that we had made.  At the top of that page, 3, we describe the spending in 2012, and it's noted there as being 275 million by year end.  Actually, by way of undertaking JT2.10, that's been updated to $283 million.

And exactly the same material appears at page 7 of 17 of the addendum where, at line 21, there is that figure of 275 million.  That's been updated, as I described, to 283.

Then just by way of a typographical correction that I happened to notice, response to -- THESL's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 11, which is tab 6B, for Bob, schedule 111, at pages 2 and 3 of that interrogatory, there is reference to a date of April 30th, 2014, and that's contained in a description of the period over which our rate adders would apply.  That should not have been 2014.  It should have been 2015 on both 2 and 3 of that interrogatory response.

With respect to Consumers Council of Canada Interrogatory No. 12, tab 6C, schedule 6-12, I just note that the original answer referred to a revenue requirement figure of 12.9 million.  That's been updated to 13 million.

And the final note is Board Staff Interrogatory 79.  That's tab 6H, schedule 1-79.  At line 22 there is a reference to a difference in revenue requirements that would appear between the standard approach and THESL's alternative approach, and the updated number to reflect the phasing of our hearing is 22.32 million instead of 27.7 million.

Thank you.  That's all the corrections I had.

MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. McLorg.  And with those corrections, is your evidence given in this proceeding accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?

MR. McLORG:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  And do you adopt it as your evidence in this case?

MR. McLORG:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Turning lastly to you, Mr. Williams, can you explain to the Board, please, your role in the evidence in this case?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.  My role has been to help Toronto Hydro with regulatory matters, including the determination of the revenue requirements, and also to help them with the application of the ICM framework to their spending, develop the alternative approaches for rate mitigation, and also to understand the implications of the proposed capital spending on the rate base over the IRM period.

MR. CASS:  And is your evidence given in this proceeding accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes, it is.

MR. CASS:  And do you adopt that as your evidence in this case?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes, I do.

MR. CASS:  Now, Mr. Chair, there was a two-page document sent out last week that Toronto Hydro indicated would be addressed by this panel.  It hasn't been given an exhibit number that I am aware of.  I wonder if we could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Panel, do you -- I am not sure what document you are talking about, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  It was sent I think at the same time as the other document, the visual aid that has been marked as Exhibit A1.4.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We don't have any copies of that.  Do you have any or does the Panel have copies?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Is this something we would need before the lunch break?  You will be going right into it, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I was going to ask Mr. Williams to introduce it to the Board.

MR. MILLAR:  Do we have copies of it for the screen, perhaps?

MR. CASS:  That's it.

MR. WILLIAMS:  I would like to speak to the supporting document that was provided as part of the December 6th letter from Mr. Cass to Ms. Walli, as the Board secretary.  There are two pages.  I will talk to the first page first.

This page is entitled "THESL's Proposed ICM Adders Based on the OEB ICM Framework".  And this is an approximation that illustrates the development THESL's proposed ICM matters under the OEB's ICM framework.

And the starting point in determining the adders is THESL's proposed 2012 and 2013 capital spending, which is shown in the top row of the document.

You will see that the proposed 2012 capital spending is 283 million and reflecting the correction that Mr. McLorg just identified, and the 2013 capital spending is 579 million.  The total capital spending over the two years is 862 million.

All these numbers are consistent, as I mentioned, with the updated and corrected information filed by THESL.

The next row down, below that, shows the threshold determined according to the OEB's ICM framework, and, as noted, this threshold includes the 20 percent deadband.  In both years, the materiality threshold with the deadband is 173 million.

According to the OEB's ICM framework, the ICM additions to the rate base are determined by subtracting the threshold, including the 20 percent deadband, from the capital spending, and this is shown in the next row down.

The ICM additions for 2012 are determined to be 110 million, which is equal to the 2012 capital spending of 283 million less the 173 million for the threshold, including the deadband.

Similarly, the ICM additions for 2013 are 406 million, based on 579 million of capital spending less the 173 million for the threshold, including the deadband.

And I mentioned at the outset that this is an approximation, and this is because the calculation uses an approximate capital recovery factor, which is intended to reflect THESL's costs for depreciation, interest on debt, return on equity and also PILs on the return.  It's only an approximation for simplicity and the number, the actual number, will be slightly different from that, but just to keep the math simple.

The next row below that shows the ICM adder for 2012 spending, and this is based on the 2012 additions to the rate base of 110 million, multiplied by the approximate capital recovery factor of 10 percent.

The multiplication results in an ICM adder for 2012 spending of $11 million, and this adder would apply in 2012 and for each of the remaining years in the IRM period.

Over the three years, the total from this adder would be 33 million.

Similarly, the calculation for the ICM adder for 2013 reflects the 2013 ICM additions of 406 million, and 10 percent of 406 million is 40.6 million and that is the ICM adder for the 2013 spending.  And this adder would apply in 2013 and in 2014, and the total associated with this adder is 81.2 million.

Over the entire ICM period, the total revenue associated with the two adders, one adder being applied for three years and the other adder being applied for two years, would be $114.2 million.

Before we go to the second page, I just want to -- sort of as introduction, given the nature of the jobs being undertaken proposed by Toronto Hydro, not all of its proposed capital spending in 2012 will come into service in 2012.  Some will come into service in 2013 and some in 2014, and there is a similar pattern for 2013 spending.

Toronto Hydro was -- they have provided information regarding the in-service additions that would flow from this capital spending through various interrogatory responses and undertakings.

Given these differences in capital spending and in-service additions in a year, Toronto Hydro wanted to better understand how its projected net fixed assets would change over time, over the IRM period, and they also wanted to understand the level of net fixed assets that would actually be supported by rates during the IRM period.

Those explorations led to the calculations that are shown on the next page.  And this next page is entitled, "THESL's unfunded net fixed assets during the IRM period."

And the starting point, the starting point in this analysis is the 2011 approved closing net fixed assets, which is in the top left corner, and that's 2.105 billion.

The approved closing is approximately $103.7 million higher than the 2012 approved average net fixed assets of just over two billion, and the two billion represents the net fixed asset level on which Toronto Hydro's rates are based.

This analysis reflects the net fixed assets; it does not include -- it does not include excess capital spending that Toronto Hydro took in 2011 over the approved amounts that -- the amounts that were approved by the Board.  That's been removed from this analysis.

It also does not include working capital, which is another important contributor to rate base.

So the opening net fixed assets for 2012 are simply the 2011 approved closing net fixed assets of just over the 2.1 billion, and that's shown by the arrow pointing to the 2012 open net fixed assets.

Toronto Hydro then considered all of the various changes that would occur to its net fixed assets in 2012, and if we go down the remaining items in the column that's labelled "2012," these changes include, firstly, construction work in progress, or CWIP, from capital spending incurred prior to 2012 that would come into service in 2012.  This was estimated by Toronto Hydro to be approximately $67 million.

In-service additions from 2012 capital spending are projected to be $116.3 million.

Then there is depreciation that would reduce the level of net fixed assets.  Firstly, depreciation from the pre-2012 asset base of 134.7 million.  Then depreciation on the pre-2012 CWIP that would come into service in 2012; that's about a million dollars.  And then depreciation on the in-service additions from 2012 capital spending, of 3.6 million.

With all those changes, both for in-service additions and depreciation, the closing net fixed assets for 2012 are projected to be 2.149 billion, or 2,149 million.

The average net fixed assets for 2012, which are simply equal to the average of the beginning and the ending net fixed assets, are projected to be 2.127 billion. Essentially, Toronto Hydro is expecting -- forecasts that its averaged net fixed assets in 2012 will be 2 billion --$2.1271 billion.

The amount of net fixed assets that would be funded or covered in Toronto Hydro's rates in 2012 are going to be slightly higher than in 2011, because Toronto Hydro's rates will increase slightly under the incentive regulation mechanism.  So this increase would be inflation, less the productivity factor of 0.72, less the stretch factor of 0.6, which equals 0.68.

So escalating the funded rate base by this factor implicitly allocates the same percentage of revenue to capital recovery on net fixed assets as was applicable for the rates in the test year.  So if we increase the 2011 approved average net fixed assets of just over $2 billion by 0.68 percent, it results in fixed assets funded through rates of 2.015 billion, and that's roughly a $13.6 million increase over 2011.

You will note that this amount is less than the projected average net fixed assets for 2012, and that essentially reflects the fact that not all of THESL's, Toronto Hydro's projected average net fixed assets in 2012 are funded by rates.

The difference is shown below in the row labelled "Unfunded net fixed assets," and for 2012 this is projected to be $112.1 million.

Using the same 10 percent approximate capital recovery factor, as I discussed previously, the 112.1 million of unfunded net fixed assets results in a 2012 unfunded revenue requirement of $11.2 million.  And this is shown in the row labelled "10 percent proxy revenue attraction factor" on this page.

So what we see is that not all of the projected average net fixed assets in 2012 will be funded by rates, and the unfunded revenue requirement associated with this shortfall is projected to be 11.2 million.

The calculations for 2012 -- sorry, 2013 and 2014 are similar.  The opening net fixed assets in 2013 are simply equal to the 2012 closing net fixed assets.  And you will see that both of these values are equal to 2.149 billion.

All of the changes to net fixed assets, in-service additions and depreciation are listed, and the average rate base is determined for 2012 and 2013 -- for 2013 and 2014, as I described for 2012.

Similarly, the net fixed assets that are funded through rates are increased by the same 0.68 percent in each of 2013 and 2014, and the unfunded net fixed assets for these years can be determined in the same way as I described for 2012.

In total, the additions to net fixed assets that would be funded through rates are expected to increase by over 40 million due to the IRM adjustments over the IRM period.

The projected value of the unfunded net fixed assets in 2013 are 283.3 million, as shown, and for 2014 are 533.9 million.  Note that the values shown for 2014 only reflect capital spending prior to 2014.  They do not include capital spending that Toronto Hydro would undertake in 2014.

Based on the unfunded net fixed assets in 2013 and 2014, the unfunded revenue requirement for 2013 is 28.4 million and for 2014 is 53.4 million.

The total unfunded revenue requirement over the IRM period, which is the sum of the three numbers in that row, would be $93 million.

And the bottom three rows are really just another way to present that information if you think about them as sort of layers.  If we carry the 2012 revenue adder of 11.2 million across all three years, then the unfunded revenue requirement for 2013 would simply be the 28.4, which is the requirement in that year less the 11.2, which is, in a sense, collected if you consider it as a carry-over from the 2012 number, and then, similarly, the unfunded revenue requirement incremental for 2014 would be 25 million.

Add up all those cells in that bottom table, if you will, and that equals the same 93 million.

Two final points I would like to make regarding this approach.  By using the 2011 closing net fixed assets as the starting point in this approach, this implicitly recognizes the 2011 rate base that would otherwise be unrecognized through the OEB's incentive regulation mechanism.

Additionally, the in-service additions both -- and depreciation are implicitly subject to the half-year rule, because this approach uses the average net fixed assets in each year as the basis for determining the unfunded revenue requirement.

One of the things that I have observed in comparing the impact of the proposed spending on Toronto Hydro's net fixed assets, which is the second sheet, against the cumulative ICM adders calculated according to the OEB's ICM framework, is that the cumulative total revenue from the ICM adders over the period would actually support the unfunded net fixed assets, including the unrecognized 2011 net fixed assets.

So based on this, it is my recommendation that if the Board -- if the Board accepts Toronto Hydro's ICM application on the basis of spend, which is the basis for the 114 million, then the financial claim with respect to the unrecognized 2011 closing net fixed assets should be dropped.

This recommendation essentially flows from the way that the ICM -- the numbers work in terms of the ICM adders and in terms of the actual impact on the net fixed assets over the IRM period.  I don't think it would work in all circumstances, but I think in these particular circumstances, given the way the numbers work with the updated and corrected information, that's the basis for my recommendation.

If the Board -- if the Board chooses to establish ICM adders on another basis, such as, for instance, in-service assets, in-service additions, then Toronto Hydro's financial claim with respect to the unrecognized 2011 net fixed assets, it should not be dropped, and I believe it should be carefully considered by the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, if Mr. Williams is finished, I have a question of procedure to raise.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It has two components.  First of all, that sound an awful like he was trying to give expert evidence, but I assume he is not claiming any expertise in any of this stuff?  That's my first part of it.  Is that correct?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Mr. Shepherd, as I mentioned at the outset, I was -- I have been helping Toronto Hydro to understand the implications of the projected capital spending with respect to the ICM adders, with respect to the alternative framework proposed by Toronto Hydro, and, as I just discussed, with respect to the impact on its net fixed assets over the period.

And it's on that basis that I am presenting that information.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am sorry, Mr. Chairman, that wasn't really responsive, and I would ask Mr. Cass to just advise us.  Is the witness intending to give an expert opinion or not?  If he is, then we will need to have him qualified, and, if he is not, then we need to know that.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I think Mr. Williams has been clear that he has been giving advice to Toronto Hydro in this area.  To the extent that the Board, in hearing what Mr. Williams has to say, feels it's necessary that he be qualified to say these things to the Board, he can be qualified as an expert.  We can do that.

I didn't think that it was necessary, given the evidence that's being presented here.  I don't believe that the Board needs to have Mr. Williams qualified as an expert to hear him talk about these numbers.

However, if the Board considers that necessary, it can be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I still don't have a straight answer.  Is this proposed as expert opinion or not?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, the Board hasn't accepted that we did have to qualify him.  Therefore, we wouldn't be accepting this as expert evidence.  That's the basis or premise on which we were going to receive this.  And I agree with you, Mr. Shepherd.  It is unusual for a witness to give recommendations to the Board, Mr. Williams, and so the phrasing of this is one thing, and I take your point, Mr. Shepherd.

But what I see, what we have here is a mathematical equation showing real numbers through a process and through a methodology.  It is what it is.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Which I don't object to, Mr. Chairman.  I just wanted to make sure that it's clear that we are not expected to give any weight to the fact that Mr. Williams said it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The numbers are the numbers.

The second part of this is this is new.  It's sort of unusual to present this type of analysis in direct evidence for the first time in the hearing.  Normally, you would see this much earlier in the process.

And I am not going to object to that, because I think again the numbers are the numbers; right?  But I certainly would like to have had an opportunity to have done some discovery on this, and, at the very least, I would like to see the numerical background to this before I do my cross this afternoon, the spreadsheets, et cetera, this afternoon, like, on the lunch break.

Presumably there are a set of spreadsheets that do all these calculations and that show where it's all derived, and if the Board agrees, I think I would like to see that before this afternoon.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Again, Mr. Chair, it was sent out last week to the Board, to all parties, these two documents, and it was made clear that it was going to be introduced through this panel.  This is not the first that people have seen these numbers.

If there was a request for that information, it could have been made last week when this was sent out.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I have to agree with Mr. Shepherd that it is kind of an unusual scenario that we have here, that this isn't a compilation of previously filed documents or a compendium of anything that's already in the evidence, Mr. Cass, and the Board had no process for discovery on this.

And I think that had the information been provided earlier -- and I don't know if this is just a late -- well, why was it left to the timing that it was, that we didn't receive it until last week as opposed to it being introduced at an earlier stage when intervenors could have used this through the earlier discovery?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  It was an approach that was developed really in accordance with the timing of when it was produced.  Again, Mr. Williams referred to his recommendations, and you expressed your comment about the recommendations to the Board.

I think again it should be made more clear.  Mr. Williams was working with Toronto Hydro.  He was working with the numbers.  He made a recommendation to Toronto Hydro, I think is what he was trying to explain to the Board.

And Mr. Williams can explain if I am wrong, but I believe that he landed on these numbers and this presentation and his recommendation more or less at the time it was sent out.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, with that explanation - thank you for that - are there underpinning documents that would support the presentation, Mr. Williams?

MR. WILLIAMS:  As I mentioned, the numbers that are in here are available essentially in all of the various -- the evidence and the interrogatory responses and the undertakings.  They are -- at least to my knowledge, they are no different.  I mean, those are where the numbers were pulled from.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, sorry.  There is a calculation, for example, of depreciation on the pre-2012 asset base that changes from year to year.  That is not in the evidence anywhere.  And that is a calculation -- this is a spreadsheet.  It presumably has backup spreadsheets to it.  All I am asking is put it an e-mail to me.  I'll be happy to look at it.

DR. HIGGIN:  Can I weigh on this one, as well, Mr. Chairman?

Basically, there was an undertaking given on the oral transcript, which is tab 8, schedule 2-1, which was filed on Tuesday, that relates to this information.

Now, I have looked at that undertaking and the information, and it does not fit with undertaking responses that we have got, both in the technical conference and as interrogatories.

So there is another issue now, is the reconciliation of those undertakings and interrogatories with this new information that's been filed.  So that's the next piece.

I have been using that information as part of my cross-examination, and now I have to get this information reconciled with that evidence.  And that is another concern that we would have with this information.  Thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.

Mr. Cass, I believe we have got two of the intervenors that have difficulty reconciling this information, this evidence, to previously filed evidence and where the things are.

Without speaking to my other Panel members here, I am looking for a solution here as to how we move this forward so that we are not going through a kind of an analysis to do reconciliation through cross-examination.

Is there a process that we can go off-line on this and have some questions answered and perhaps some supply of the underpinning, kind of spreadsheets or whatever available, to map out the connections that are being sought, without having -- so it's available to everyone in advance of their cross?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I don't, for myself, know what spreadsheets Mr. Williams has, sir, but I would think that we could discuss that off-line, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we take an extended lunch break?  We will return at 2:00, and we will ask the parties to work on this, as to what potential way they can satisfy themselves as to how these numbers -- a mini off-line technical conference, for lack of a better term.

And if we can return at 2:00 and see if we have been able to resolve this, so that we can move forward with some cross, that, I think, will be the best use of our time.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:36 p.m.

--- On resuming at 2:07 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Before the break, just to get this matter out of the road, we had talked about the submission schedule.  We will leave that until the end of the day and we will have a conversation at that time, rather than take up this valuable space that we have right now.

Board member Spoel has to leave at 3:30, and Board member Hare and I can deal with the scheduling issues in her absence, rather than eat up the cross-examination time this afternoon that we have available to us.

Mr. Cass, did anything happen over the break that you can update the Panel as to where we are at with this exhibit or yet to be an exhibit?

MR. CASS:  I haven't personally canvassed everyone myself, Mr. Chair, but I think we are ready to go ahead with cross-examination.  The document has not been given an exhibit number yet.  Also, additional hard copies were brought to the room, and I think just in the photocopying something was dropped off of the new hard copies that are in the room.  

I'm talking about the original exhibit.  There are new -- no?  I am sorry, I am wrong.  This is the new document, my apologies.  So perhaps the original document could be given an exhibit number to begin with, my apologies.

MR. MILLAR:  This is what we were looking at this morning, Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's K4.2.  This is THESL's proposed -- actually, it's a two-pager; right?

MR. CASS:  Yes, it is.

MR. MILLAR:  What will we call this?

MR. CASS:  In my mind, it's Toronto Hydro's two scenarios.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it's Toronto Hydro's two scenarios from a letter dated December 6th.

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  That's K4.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.2:  TORONTO HYDRO'S TWO SCENARIOS FROM A LETTER DATED DECEMBER 6, 2012.

MR. CASS:  And, in addition, Mr. Chair, there have been pages handed around.  Sorry, I am catching up here myself.  And my understanding is that there is a page headed "THESL's Proposed ICM Adders Based on OEB ICM Framework".  And in the copying of that, at the right-hand side, the page references were dropped.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I see there is a section that says "notes", and I can see that it's cut off at the end.  There is A, tab 7, schedule 2-10, and then there is remainder text there?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  So after tab 7, schedule 2-10, what was cut off was page 2 of 4, and then in the one below that, after tab 2, appendix 2, page, what was cut off was 1 of 1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Is that clear to everyone?  Okay.  We will give this --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, sorry.  That's actually a two-page document.

MR. CASS:  I am just waiting to get the second page.  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd.  I am behind you on this.  There is then another page headed "THESL's Unfunded Net Fixed Assets During IRM Period".

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  And that is different from the original, in that it has references to the evidence, I take it?

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And we will give that new document an exhibit number, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, the new versions of these scenarios will be K4.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.3:  TWO DOCUMENTS, ONE HEADED "THESL'S PROPOSED ICM ADDERS BASED ON OEB ICM FRAMEWORK" AND ONE HEADED "THESL'S UNFUNDED NET FIXED ASSETS DURING IRM PERIOD".

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay.  So with that, if we are ready to start, then?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I had actually asked for the Excel spreadsheets, and I think my friend has agreed - correct me if I am wrong - to send me the Excel spreadsheets.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  I don't know what there is in the way of Excel spreadsheets.  I can't speak for that, but I thought that it had been e-mailed, so if it hasn't, it's on its way.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I was told at the break there were Excel spreadsheets and they were being sent to me.

MR. CASS:  Yes, whatever there is is being sent to you.  I haven't seen it myself.  I don't personally know what it is, but I thought it had been sent, and, if it's not, it is on its way.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Going to all parties?

MR. CASS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, before we go to cross-examination -- and I suppose I can deal with this in cross-examination, but I think it's better for everyone if we get it upfront.  The intervenors talked during the lunch break, and it is not clear to us, I guess - and maybe we are just collectively dense - whether this is an amendment to the application or an alternative formulation of the application.

This is different than anything we have seen in the application, and I guess we would like to know whether we are dealing with a revised application or with another alternative that's being put forward for the first time in this document.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Cass?

MR. CASS:  Yes, I can attempt to address that, Mr. Chair, and I would encourage the witnesses to correct me if I go wrong.  Mr. Williams introduced the two scenarios that were sent out last week.  The second scenario is illustrative.  It was not intended to be exact, necessarily exact, precise numbers.  It was an illustrative scenario.

As a result of looking at the numbers in the second scenario, Mr. Williams's recommendation to Toronto Hydro is that under the as-filed scenario, so that would be under the first of the two pages, proposed ICM adders based on OEB ICM framework, that Toronto Hydro ought to take a different approach under the other scenario.

Mr. Williams's recommendation was that under the as-filed approach, Toronto Hydro should not be pursuing their request that it has made in the application in respect of the amount for the use of the half-year rule in 2011.

That's the recommendation that came out of Mr. Williams doing the second illustrative scenario to compare the impact to the as-filed scenario.  It's my understanding, and I can confirm - and the witnesses can correct me if I am wrong - that Toronto Hydro accepts Mr. Williams's recommendation.

That means that under the one scenario, in particular, the first of the two pages, the as-filed scenario, Toronto Hydro does not pursue the request in respect of the use of the half-year rule in 2011.  All right?  I hope I have stated that clearly.

Mr. Shepherd is talking about amending the application.  I don't know that it's amending the application.  It's something that Toronto Hydro brought forward as one of its requests; and, on the recommendation of Mr. Williams, Toronto Hydro has seen, and looking at the illustrative scenario as a comparison, that Toronto Hydro is prepared not to pursue that aspect.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I guess if what Mr. Cass is saying is that request, which I think was $37 million of rate adders, is being withdrawn, that's nice and simple.  I understand that.

If what he is saying is if they get what is on page 1, they don't need the 37.7, but if they get anything else, they do need it, then in our respectful submission there is no change to the application.

MR. CASS:  Well, it's the second of those two things, Mr. Chair.  In the scenario is on page 1 --


MR. QUESNELLE:  We don't have numbers on these pages.  If we are going to start using numbers, let's give them numbers.

MR. CASS:  Yes, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The "THESL Proposed ICM Adders Based on OEB ICM Framework" is page 1.  Okay, sorry, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  Yes.  So if I could refer to page 1 just loosely as the as-filed scenario.

If the adders are determined on that basis, as shown in page 1, Toronto Hydro would not be pursuing its request for the amount -- I think it may be $38 million, but the amount that we are now discussing, if the adders are determined on that basis.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  And if we could finish that thought, if they do not get the funding adders as has been presented, then the original application stands and the request for the elimination of the half-year rule holds?

MR. CASS:  That's correct, Mr. Chair.  Yes, thank you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Or the non-application of the half-year rule.

MS. GIRVAN:  Could we just clarify exactly?  I apologize, I am confused.  So on page 1, what is the request?

MR. CASS:  Well, I think the witnesses can explain this under examination better than I can, but page 1 is illustrating the as-filed request.  I don't know that I would call it a request; it's illustrative, as Mr. Williams attempted to explain, for example, the capital recovery factor is approximate.  But it's an illustrative presentation of the as-filed proposal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Mr. Chairman, so we are only dealing with 2012 and 2013 right now, right?

So I am just I am trying to get my head around this.  It's a little bit -- when I saw this last week, I didn't think any of this was coming down the pike.  So it's brand new.

This says that, as requested, you are asking for $62.6 million of extra money from ratepayers in 2012 and 2013, and you calculated that you only need 39.6, even including the half-year rule from 2011.

So you are requesting 39.6 now?

MS. GIRVAN:  Where are you getting those numbers, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  So the 62.6 is -- if look on page 1, is the 11 plus the 11 plus the 40.6.

That's the amount that this example is saying is being for 2012 and 2013.

And in the second page for 2012 and 2013, it's 11.2 and 28.4, are the amounts that they say they need for those year, which is 39.6.

And what I am trying to understand is:  Is what you are proposing that now -- and that includes the half-year rule being included in that.  So am I understanding correctly that you are now asking for 39.6?  What you say you calculated, you actually need?  Or 62.6, 23 million more than you need?

Mr. Cass, or maybe your witnesses can answer it if they want.  I just want to know --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize this exercise here is to put this into context as to what this is and also ask the question:  Is this reshaping the application?  Is it a modification of the application?  Exactly what is the relief sought?

And I recognize it is complicated, and also think the Panel accepts that this was put forward to assist.

MR. CASS:  That was the intent.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It was illustrative, and we are treating it in that context.

MR. CASS:  Can I take another stab at it, Mr. Chair?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, Mr. Cass.

MR. CASS:  The request has not changed, other than under the as-filed scenario, which is page 1.  Toronto Hydro has accepted Mr. Williams' recommendation in respect of the $38 million in that scenario, but the request otherwise has not changed.

Page 2 is illustrative.  And it was an illustrative look at the numbers that led to Mr. Williams' recommendation in respect of what you see on page 1.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  I believe that puts it into context.

There may be people, as you are going through your cross, if you have technical questions as to exactly how these numbers flow through to the application and where they come from, obviously that is fair game.  But I think we have the context as to what the intent of this document is, and I think we can carry on with cross, based on that.

And speaking of that, what is the -- has there been an agreed-to order?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I was originally going to go first, but Mr. Blue has a -- Mr. Blue represents the shareholder of the applicant, and so would often be expected to go first.

And we have canvassed the other intervenors and none of us are going to be cross-examining on the issue that he is dealing with, so in the interests of efficiency and propriety, because of the relationship with the Applicant, we have asked him to go first and I understand that he has agreed.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, that's not quite what we agreed upon.

I have agreed to go first.  I have stressed to Mr. Shepherd and the intervenors and to the Board that I am not here as the owner of THESL; I am here as a customer of THESL.  My instructions are to inform you that I am here only as a customer of THESL.

I represent a city government.  The city government starts with the letter "T".  In the normal order of cross-examination, we would follow School Energy Coalition, Energy Probe and everyone else.  We would have the second right, because we represent a broader interest than these special-interest intervenors that my friends represent, to go last.

I have consented to go first on the proviso -- and I understand Mr. Shepherd consented to this -- that if after my questioning of the witnesses, they have second thoughts and do trench on the issue of street lighting rates, that I have a right to rehabilitate my cross-examination.  I will probably not need to use that, but I insist on that right if I am going first.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue, I think the order that has been agreed to is acceptable to the Panel, but I will ask:  In hearing what you are saying as to who you represent, and you are representing a customer, by the sounds of it, as the city is a customer, the city is still the owner.  I think it's difficult to -- it's not unimaginable that it can be both, but it's difficult -- impossible to separate the two.

So that aside, just from an efficiency point of view, we accept your proviso that if you are going to speak to this issue first, if someone else has counter issues to yours or additional, that's fine.

But I take Mr. Shepherd's contribution on this, that it doesn't sound like anyone has an intent to cross-examine on it, so there is no sense spending a lot of time on the hypothetical here.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  But as I said to someone at lunchtime, I've learned to dress for hearings over the years, wearing belts, suspenders and a rope.  And it's in that sense that I make the request.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We hope that we don't present that kind of combat zone for you here today.

[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  But I think to the extent that we can, we will get through this in an efficient manner.

And speaking of the efficiency, and I recognize that you held to your time allotment that you had requested earlier, but I will ask:  If no one is else is going to be cross-examining on this matter, and recognizing that this matter was explored in the technical conference, I would ask is there anything new that you need on the record to be able to argue the points that you intend to argue, as was described in the decision on the issues lists?

We had parked this issue, recognizing that cost allocation matters are not part of the normal IRM proceedings.  We had accepted it as an issue, but on the proviso that -- or on the understanding that implementation issues are always open to the concepts of interim rates and that that could be dealt with there.

Now, you have placed on the record through the technical conference the issues that your client are concerned with, and the Board views it now -- did then and does now -- as a matter of primarily argument.  And I don't know that there is a lot of disputes on the facts.

So with that in mind, do you have any new information that you want or need to place on the record to be able to argue your points?

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, my instructions from the city is to lay a complete record in the oral part of this hearing on the record, to lay the foundation for the city's argument of street lighting rates.  And I think we get there faster if you just let me go.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, that may be the case in your mind, Mr. Blue, but to the extent that the record that has been created -- and it's not your instructions that dictate the process that we are about to embark on here -- the technical conference is there for a reason, the Board accepts those as a record.

If today's cross-examination is going to be a replication of that, it's not very efficient, and that's why I am asking you if there is anything new.

MR. BLUE:  I think so.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, we will see.  Okay.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Chairman, then, I have filed three documents electronically that are relevant to my cross-examination, and perhaps we could designate exhibit numbers for them.

The first is the City of Toronto cross-examination compendium for panel 3, rates and revenue requirement.  We have handed copies around to the Board, the Panel and the Board Staff and the intervenors.  That's the document number 1.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K4.4.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.4:  CITY OF TORONTO CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR WITNESS PANEL 3.

MR. BLUE:  The second document is the city's application in EB-2012-0250, dated May 10th, 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K4.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.5:  CITY OF TORONTO APPLICATION IN EB-2012-0250, DATED MAY 10TH, 2012.

MR. BLUE:  And, Mr. Chairman, on December the 7th I sent around a copy of a case I referred to in the technical conference, which is Bell Canada versus CRTC, with a covering letter.

May that package be the next exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  K4.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.6:  COPY OF BELL CANADA VERSUS CRTC, WITH A COVERING LETTER.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Blue:

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  Panel, could you turn up a copy of K4.4 and tell me when you have it?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, we have that.

MR. BLUE:  Mr. Seal, you will notice that it's numbered consecutively at the bottom of the page.  Would you turn to page 1, which is a comparative table, and tell me when you have that?

MR. SEAL:  Yes, I have that.

MR. BLUE:  I sent a copy of that to Ms. Klein yesterday and asked her to inform me if there were any errors or omissions in this table, and I understand you noted some.  Can you describe those to us, please?

MR. SEAL:  We did review the numbers in this table and we did notice two -- one omission and one error, the omission being in 2013 there was no line for the retail transmission connection rate.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.

MR. SEAL:  And for 2014, the value for the wholesale market service rate should be 0052 and no "9" at the end.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  And do you agree that the information in the table at page 1 is from the places that are noted in bold at the foot of each column in THESL's application?

MR. SEAL:  Yes.

MR. BLUE:  And do we agree that the numbers in each column are based on the existing cost allocation system used by THESL in 2010 or that was in effect in 2010?

MR. SEAL:  The distribution rates for the monthly fixed charge and for the variable rate for 2011 are the Board-approved rates and certainly do reflect the cost allocation in 2011.

The rates shown for 2012, 2013 and 2014 for the distribution service components are developed using the Board's IRM escalator, and they are based on the 2011 starting rates, but apply the 0.68 percent increase in each of those years.

MR. BLUE:  So the cost allocation methodology used in 2011, using the 3GIRM methodology, will be perpetuated through 2012, 2013 and 2014; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  The starting rates are maintained, which includes the cost allocation, approved cost allocation.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  So the answer to my question, will the cost allocation approach used in 2011 be perpetuated in 2012, 2013 and 2014, is, yes, it will; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  Technically, yes.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you.  And what the comparative table shows, subject to your corrections, is that each year the rates for street lighting services will increase in accordance with the 3GIRM methodology; correct?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct.

MR. BLUE:  And that will perpetuate any problems there might be in the cost allocation methodology until rate rebasing in 2015; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  I am not sure I can completely agree with that.  They do maintain, as you have mentioned, the allocation as established in the 2011 Board-approved rates.  Whether that is a perpetuation of a wrong value or not is to be determined or it will be informed by the current process that is ongoing right now.

MR. BLUE:  Right, okay.  Thank you.  And that process is the process referred to in EB-2012-0383?

MR. SEAL:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. BLUE:  The first meeting of which took place on Monday, December 10th; right?

MR. SEAL:  In my understanding; correct.

MR. BLUE:  Okay, thank you.  Now, sir, as I understand it, THESL has standby rates in the form of interim rates and has had that since 2006; is that correct?

MR. SEAL:  That is correct.  We established those standby rates in 2006 according to the Distribution Rate Handbook, and the Board did make standby rates for all LDCs in the province interim at that point.

MR. BLUE:  All right.  And do you see anything unfair about having interim rates for standby rates?

MR. SEAL:  Well, the fact, actually, is that for THESL we have no customers who are actually drawing on the standby rate at this time, or haven't since 2006.

MR. BLUE:  Fair enough.  But my question was theoretical.  Do you see anything unfair in having an interim standby rate last for six years, as it has?

MR. SEAL:  I don't know if I can answer that it's unfair.  I think it's unusual.  I think it's the Board's intention to address it, but whether it's unfair or not, I don't think I can answer that.

MR. BLUE:  Doesn't it mean, with one interim rate, that all rates are interim, then, and have been since 2006?

MR. SEAL:  That is not my understanding.  The only rates that have been declared interim are the standby rates.

MR. BLUE:  Well, Mr. McLorg, you agree that if one rate is interim, all rates are interim?  You told me that in the technical conference, didn't you?

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Blue, I was referring to the usual case where the revenue requirement of the utility is divided among active rate classes.  And, as Mr. Seal has indicated, the standby rate for THESL is there for the convenience of customers, but no revenue is actually attributed to it.

So it's hard for us to comment on whether it's fair or unfair, because it's absolutely inconsequential.  In the case where --


MR. BLUE:  Well, if it's inconsequential, sir, then why did you bring it up in the technical conference?

Let's look at page 137.  I asked you about interim rates, do you see anything unfair about it, and you brought it up.  You said, as a matter of fact, the Board has made use of interim rates on other occasions:
"I think that if you were to examine our tariff right now, you would see that the standby rates are interim and they have been interim since 2006."


You gave me that in an answer in which you said you didn't think your rate -- interim rate increase was unfair.  Now, why are you changing your evidence this afternoon?

MR. McLORG:  I don't believe that there has been any change in the evidence.  I am simply making the observation that in the special case of standby rates, there is no consequence to the revenue responsibility for any of the other rate classes; whereas in the normal course, if you were to make the rates for a certain rate class that does share part of the revenue responsibility interim, it would have the consequence of having impacts on the balance of the rate classes.

If the revenue requirement approved by the Board is fixed and you change the share of one class, it has to have an impact on the other classes, but that's not true in the case of standby rates.

MR. BLUE:  It would be if you charged them, wouldn't it?

MR. McLORG:  If there were any revenue derived from that rate, yes, it would be.

MR. BLUE:  If it's so irrelevant, though, Mr. McLorg, tell me, tell the Board, why you brought it up in your answer in the technical conference?  Was that a mistake on your part?

MR. McLORG:  No, sir, I don't believe it was.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  So you thought it was relevant then, did you not?

MR. McLORG:  I was simply making an observation about the way that the Board has used --


MR. BLUE:  Did you think it was relevant to the question that I asked you?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Blue.  I think Mr. McLorg is answering your question.

MR. BLUE:  Yes, thank you.  Go ahead, Mr. McLorg.

MR. McLORG:  Is there another question?

MR. BLUE:  Yes.  My question was -- my question in the technical conference went to the unfairness, and you said, yes, it's fair; as a matter of fact we have standby rates.

Today you are saying those are irrelevant, but you didn't think it was irrelevant when you were answering my question in the technical conference, and I am asking you to explain what happened since you said that, so that -- because your answer is different today.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Blue, my understanding of Mr. McLorg's answer is that there is a distinguishing element that he has presented as his answer, not that they are irrelevant.  I didn't hear Mr. McLorg say they are not relevant; I think he was drawing the distinction that was made at the technical conference and again here today.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you, sir.  I think I can comment on the inconsistency at the appropriate time.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

MR. BLUE:  Now, sir, with respect to the interim rate increase that THESL got, I think, Mr. McLorg, you said that when the Board determines what the 2012 and 2013 rates will be, that the interim rate order would permit the revenue requirement associated with that period to be collected by THESL prospectively, commencing at the date that the rates became effective as a result of this proceeding.

Do you remember that?

MR. SEAL:  I do believe I recall what Mr. McLorg said, and I believe the point that he was making was that the interim rates that we have in place for the base distribution rates as of June 1st, 2012, we do not propose to retroactively bill customers once we have a decision in this case for consumption that occurred over the period between when those rates became interim and when we get a decision in this case.

That is what I believe Mr. McLorg was referring to.

MR. BLUE:  When you get a decision in this case, you will make an adjustment, but that will be prospective and covered in future rates -- recovered in future rates?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.  That is our proposal, to recover that -- what we call foregone revenue, and we developed a rate rider for that, for the IRM component, prospectively.

MR. BLUE:  So that when that happens, you're going to have to go through your customer billing records to establish overpayment or underpayment, as the case may be, has been received by THESL and from other classes?  Aren't you?

MR. SEAL:  No, in fact that won't be how we will develop it.

MR. BLUE:  Okay?

MR. SEAL:  In fact, we have in evidence a proposed rate rider associated with the foregone revenue, which is developed based on the estimate by class, using billing statistics to estimate how much revenue is foregone over the period between when rates became interim and when our expected implementation of the decision is.

So we will not look back at the billing records for each individual customer, but rather determine how much of that incremental revenue there should have been, and prospectively apply that through an adder -- a rider, excuse me.

MR. BLUE:  Okay.  Now, in the interim rate that the city is seeking for your street light service, if the Board were to grant that order and made changes in cost allocation as a result of the Board proceeding in EB-2012-0383, could not that amount be recovered by means of a rate rider, prospectively, as well?

MR. SEAL:  It's not clear to me that by the time of a decision in this case, we will have, necessarily have any kind of indication from the Board in the review of the cost allocation to prospectively recover anything.

MR. BLUE:  I wasn't asking about this case.

The rate rider that the city is asking for, by its terms, says when the Board adjusts cost allocation at the next opportunity after it makes its decision about what to do with EB-2012-0383 -- assume it's the next rebasing hearing.  Assume the Board were to do that, and it turned out the city had overpaid millions of dollars.

Couldn't THESL just apply another rate rider at that time and recover prospectively, the same as it would do with its own underrecovery under an interim rate order?

MR. SEAL:  If the Board were to direct THESL to retrospectively adjust rates to the street lighting class, there would be work involved, I would think, in that case, in determining what the over- or underpayment might have been over that period.

But it could be recovered or charged on a prospective basis, certainly.

MR. BLUE:  Right.  And if it caused any spike in rates, that could be smoothed by the Board so it is recovered over time, if that was a problem, couldn't it?

MR. SEAL:  The method of recovery, there are various ways of recovering those costs and a smoothing impact is one of them.

MR. BLUE:  Thank you, sir.  Thank you, panel.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Blue.

And as was indicated earlier, there is -- I think, Mr. Shepherd, you will be up next?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, witnesses.  My name is Jay Shepherd.  I am co-counsel with Mr. Rubenstein for the School Energy Coalition.

Mr. McLorg and Mr. Seal, I know you both very well.  Mr. Williams, I know you a little bit too.  Ms. Cheah -- Cheah; is that right?

MS. CHEAH:  Cheah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Cheah?  Okay.  Sorry.  So you are new.  Welcome.

Mr. Chairman, my time estimate is three hours.  I am still aiming for that.  My questions take about an hour to ask, and I am hoping that the answers won't be more than two hours.  That's my plan.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, we will interrupt you at 3:30 to allow Ms. Spoel to make an appointment, and we will carry on with scheduling and other administrative matters.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I will be referring to two documents during this cross-examination, primarily.  The first is tabs 1 and 2 of the original application; this is the application itself, and the manager's summary.

So if the Board Panel members could have that handy, that would certainly be convenient.

And the second is a compendium of documents, entitled "Cross-examination compendium of the School Energy Coalition, panel 3."
And I have provided that to everybody and have provided it electronically.  Perhaps we could have an exhibit number for that.

MR. MILLAR:  K4.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K4.7:  Document entitled "CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM OF THE SCHOOL ENERGY COALITION, PANEL 3."

MR. QUESNELLE:  And we have that, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, excuse me.  I am sorry, I know the Board wants to proceed with things and does not want more time spent on discussion.

However, there are two points I would like to make about this compendium.

The first may not be of tremendous significance, depending on the order in which Mr. Shepherd is pursuing his questions.  This compendium was provided for the first time earlier today.  There are new items in it, as I understand it, that are not on the record in this proceeding.  It has not been provided in accordance with the 24-hour rule as far as the new items are concerned.

The second point is this, Mr. Chair --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can Mr. Cass identify what those items are that haven't been provided 24 hours in advance?

MR. CASS:  Yes.  Well, I see, for example, what appears to be a settlement agreement from the Hydro One proceeding that has not previously been on the record of this proceeding.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought your clients had it, but if they didn't have it, I won't get to it until tomorrow.

MR. CASS:  Right.  Okay.

And my second point, Mr. Chair, is more specifically in relation to that settlement agreement, which is why I chose it as an example of the documents in here that are new on the record.

Mr. Chair, my understanding is that this settlement agreement has not been approved by the Board yet.  It's been entered into, as I understand it -- I am not a participant, or I don't represent any participant in this particular proceeding, but I understand that there was a settlement conference at which parties agreed on this document, and it has yet to be approved by the Board.

My concern is actually not so much a Toronto Hydro concern as it is a process concern.

In order to have questions on this document in this proceeding effectively means that people will be commenting on it before it has actually been presented to the Board and accepted by the Board in the proceeding in which it belongs.

In my submission, Mr. Chair, that is a process that the Board ought to be very careful about.  Speaking for myself, I could look at this document and I could -- I could have comments, concerns, any nature -- any number of different things as not being a participant in that proceeding.

I don't think that really is relevant, and I don't really think it should be explored prior to the document actually being presented by those who participated in the actual proceeding and prior to it being accepted by the Board.

In short, I don't think it's appropriate in some other proceeding to have commentary on a document in advance of the Board actually considering it and accepting it in the proceeding in which it belongs.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have two comments.  First of all, the essence of Mr. Cass's submission on this is that I might ask questions that require the witnesses to give inappropriate answers.  That should be dealt with when I ask the questions.  I am quite confident that he will have no complaints about the questions I ask on this document.

The second comment is this is a public document.  It is on the record.  It is no longer confidential because it has been filed with the Board.

If I did not put the concepts in this document in the context of this document to the witnesses, Mr. Cass would argue, when I put them into argument after it is approved by the Board, Sorry, you can't raise these because they weren't put to the witnesses.

So I am caught in a Catch-22.  I don't really have is a choice here.  I have to put them to the witnesses, and if the witnesses say, you know, I don't think it's appropriate to answer that, that's fine.  Then Mr. Cass can't say later, Well, you can't raise this in argument.

MR. QUESNELLE:  There is a bit of a Catch-22, Mr. Shepherd, to the extent that we can't unwind the tape.  If there are comments in here, how would the Board view the commentary heard on the evidentiary record in this case and not be -- what if, in the - I am just putting out a hypothetical - the Board were not to accept this settlement and it was discussed here today.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the Board were not to accept the settlement, but on some other issue not involving the small excerpt that I have included here, then it would be irrelevant.  If the Board specifically said, We are not accepting it because you have said X in the settlement, then my friend can raise it in argument, can say, Well, you raised this and it turned out you were wrong.

It seems to me that those questions go to the nature of the questions I ask.  If I ask questions that are about -- that imply that Board policy is being represented, then maybe there is an objection.  If I ask questions about concepts and use this only as a way of doing so, then it seems to me that that's not objectionable.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We will have a little conference.

[Board Panel confer]

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Mr. Chair.  Sorry to interrupt your discussion.  I wonder if I can ask, through you, again, when I spoke about this document, I indicated it's not so much a Toronto Hydro concern as more a process concern.  I wonder if I could ask through you whether Hydro One and the participants in this proceeding are aware that the document is being presented in this case.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I was going to ask Mr. Shepherd.  You are party to that case?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am a party, and why would they have to be asked?  It's a public document.  It's on the website.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, do you want to weigh in?

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, all I can say is without knowing the question Ms. Shepherd intends to ask about this document, it's very difficult to discern if there would be a -- the potential concern, as I understand it, is that I don't think it's any secret that there is actually overlap between the Hydro One panel and the Toronto Hydro panel.  I won't name any names, but it's you.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  I guess there is at least a theoretical concern that there may be some comments that the Toronto Hydro witnesses make or that comes out somehow through this proceeding that may impact your consideration of this document.

It's entirely possible that that's simply a theoretical concern, and, given Mr. Shepherd's questions, it may be completely moot.  He may be asking them just to 

-- I don't know why he plans to ask them.

My feeling would be that the Board would allow him to ask the questions and, once we hear, the questions, we would be in a better position to understand if there was an appropriate objection.

MR. QUESNELLE:  On that basis, I think we are willing to proceed, and -- yes, we are willing to proceed on that basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  Before I get to these two main documents, I do want to ask some questions about Exhibit K4.3 or 2, whichever one you want to look at, but let's say 4.3, because it's the more complete of the two.

Do you have that?  These I guess would be -- this is your work, Mr. Williams, so I guess I would ask you these questions?

MR. WILLIAMS:  This was my work based on information provided by Toronto Hydro, so, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me just ask you a couple of background questions.  You are a consultant working with Navigant, but it sounds like you are essentially working as a member of the regulatory team of Toronto Hydro in this proceeding; right?  You are sort of part of the team, like Mr. McLorg or Mr. Seal, as opposed to as an external expert?

MR. WILLIAMS:  I believe that Toronto Hydro sought my advice to provide sort of, I guess, a separate perspective.  So in that regard, I wouldn't see myself in the way you are characterizing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You didn't prepare an expert report of any type; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  I did not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And your colleague, Mr. Schlatz, gave evidence the other day as an expert witness; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What was your involvement with his evidence?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Mr. Schlatz was the principal author of the evidence he provided.  I had knowledge of the work that he was doing, but I was not directly involved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Did you have input into his report?

MR. WILLIAMS:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Was it reviewed by you before it was filed?

MR. WILLIAMS:  I knew what was said, but I didn't -- I didn't really have input in terms of it was Mr. Schlatz's report.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, I understand that.

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you saw it first.  Before it was filed, you reviewed it; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  I reviewed it, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Schlatz actually joined Navigant at the same time as you in 1999.  Is that just coincidence, or were the two things related?

MR. WILLIAMS:  It is purely coincidence.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just coincidence.  So I guess it's fair to conclude that your involvement here is quite different than his.  He had a specific task to do, an expert report.  He did it basically using his own expertise.  You on the other hand were sort of working with Toronto Hydro on a bunch of things associated with the application; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, good.  Now, let me turn to 4.3, and I just have a couple of questions on this.

I am right, am I not, that what you are now proposing, I think, is -- and I am going to assume that your approximate capital recovery factor is reasonably accurate.  It's pretty normal to use 10 percent as your combination of weighted average cost of capital and depreciation for capital assets; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes, that's what I said earlier.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I am going to assume it's accurate.  I understand that in all of this, these are not precisely accurate number, but they are in the ballpark; fair?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your page 1 calculates that what Toronto Hydro is asking for in 2012 and 2013 is $62.6 million; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  How did you calculate that number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Eleven plus 11 plus 40.6.

MR. WILLIAMS:  62.6.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that doesn't include the half-year rule for 2011; right?  That's assuming you don't need -- you don't ask for that anymore.  As you said, if they get this, they don't need that; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Based on the Board's ICM framework, right, this is based on the spending within the year.  So the half-year rule is not applied.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the half-year rule is a separate request in this application, which the applicant has said, if they get this 62.6, they don't need that; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Sorry, with respect to 2011 you are referring?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. WILLIAMS:  The first page of K4.3 is only with respect to the ICM part of the application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  So what the company is asking for is actually about 100 million, this 62.6 plus 37.7, for those two years, but you've done the analysis and you've said:  Look it, you don't need 100 million.  If you get the 62.6, that's enough, right?  That's the essence of your recommendation, isn't it?

MR. WILLIAMS:  My recommendation also included the what I would call the flow-on effect with respect to the 2012 adders and the 2013 adders for 2014.  So I just want to be clear that was part of the recommendation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's not true if it's only 2012 and 2013?

MR. WILLIAMS:  That was not my recommendation.  It was included --


MR. SHEPHERD:  I am asking whether it's true.

MR. WILLIAMS:  I don't think you can take the 2014 adders out of the equation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The current application before the Board asks for $62.6 million for 2012 and 2013, right?

2014 isn't before the Board today, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  The effect -- just to be clear, Mr. Shepherd, the adders that would occur in 2014, the 11 million and the 40.6, as per schedule 4.3, page 1, would consequentially flow from the numbers provided in 2012 and 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  All right.  We are going to leave 2014 aside, anyway, right now, and just talk about 2012 and 2013.

Am I right that this says for 2012 and 2013 the company is asking for 62.6 million in adders, plus, subject to withdrawing it, another 37.7 for the effect of the half-year rule in 2011?  Is that right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  With the clarification that the adders --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Please first give me a yes/no, and then tell me the clarification.

MR. WILLIAMS:  The adders would collect 62.6 million for 2012 and 2013, and that would include the impact of 2012 adders that flow for three years, as shown here, and the impact of 2013 adders that flow for two years, as shown in this exhibit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So now I am going to go back to my question, because I am entitled to a yes or a no.

So in 2012 and 2013, is it true that the company is currently asking for $62.6 million of adders and 37.7 million for the -- or whatever the number is for the 2011 half-year rule?  Is that right?  Yes or no?

It doesn't have to be Mr. Williams that answers it.  Anybody who wants to -- this is a set-up question; it's not controversial.

MR. McLORG:  Mr. Shepherd, perhaps I could take a try at it.

I think our position is simply that we wouldn't want the inference to be drawn that Mr. Williams' calculation that -- and recommendation to Toronto Hydro that it could forego the requested relief for 2011 could somehow be compatible with our foregoing the relief that is shown here for 2014.

So we are prepared to acknowledge your assertion that over 2012 and 2013, we ask for a total of 62.6.  And I think that the simplest way to express our view is to say that that's true, 62.6 over 2012 and 2013.  And provided that the ensuing amounts for both the 2012 spend and 2013 spend in 2014 were granted by the Board, that we would then withdraw the request for separate relief on the 2011 half-year rule.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So help me out with this.  What page 2 says is that your actual revenue requirement for this capital spending in 2012 and 2013, including -- including the impact of the half-year rule from 2011, which you say you are giving up, is only $39.6 million.

So why are you still asking for $62.6 million? That's a $23 million difference; why are you asking for $23 million more than you need, even with this phantom give-up?

MR. WILLIAMS:  I believe I mentioned this morning or just before lunch that this was a view of Toronto Hydro's, looking at it from a net fixed asset perspective.  And it includes various, I'll say, aspects that may be conservative, in that it includes the effect of the half-year rule within 2012, '13 and '14.

It does not reflect the impact of working capital, and there are changes projected to Toronto Hydro's working capital over the period.

So this is not, I guess, a -- this is one view that does not include certain other aspects that one could choose to include.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you look at page 2 of your proposal here, what you have done is you have taken the 2011 differences between closing rate base and average rate base.  That's 103.7 million, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have added that to 2012 and 2013.  When you are doing it on a revenue requirement basis, you have to add that, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's, in fact, that's reflecting the request in the application for relief from 2011 half-year rule, right?  That brings that in?

MR. WILLIAMS:  It rolls in that half-year from 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

So using the 10 percent revenue attraction factor, am I right that the revenue requirement impact of that opening addition, that 103.7, that revenue requirement addition is 10.4 million in each of those two years, each of 2012 and 2013?  10.4 million is because of the 2011 half-year rule; is that right?  10.37?

MR. WILLIAMS:  That would be close enough, I would say, yes.  That would be an approximation, as this is an approximation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 39.6 million of revenue requirement that you need, if everything in your application qualifies, everything, the 39.6 million that you say you need, 20.7 million of it, 20.7, is from the 2011 half-year rule, right?

There is only 18.9 million left that you need for those two years if you get everything, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Could you repeat the question again, please, with the number?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  You are saying the revenue requirement calculation is 39.6 million for those two years, 2012 and 2013.  Of that, 10.4, 10.37 in each year is from 2011 half-year rule, which means there is only 18.9 million left of unfunded -- you say unfunded –- amounts, stuff -- additional funding you need for your entire capital program, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  In 2012 and 2013.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Okay.

So then a couple of other things that I couldn't understand about this, because I agree with most of this calculation; it is sort of what we have been trying to press all along in this proceeding.

Your depreciation in rates is 145.2, right?  Will you accept that, subject to check?  I got it from your own evidence.

MR. McLORG:  2011 depreciation approved was 138.8.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I got 145.2.

MR. McLORG:  That's the threshold minus the deadband.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Oh, that's adjusting for the IRM factor in the negative growth?

MR. McLORG:  The difference between depreciation approved adjusted by PCI, plus growth, plus the cross-product of growth of growth of PCI, and the result that's obtained when you subtract the deadband from the threshold is due to the term in the threshold equation that has rate base over depreciation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood, okay.  So it's 138-point -- what did you say?

MR. McLORG:  138.8 was approved in 2011.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your rates include an amount that you are collecting from ratepayers of 138.8?

MR. McLORG:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your depreciation on your existing assets in 2012 is 134.7; right?  It's your number right here on your chart.

MR. McLORG:  I see that, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So isn't that another $4.1 million you have available to fund additional capital spending?  You are collecting 138.8 from the ratepayers, but you are only depreciating on your existing assets 134.7; right?

MR. McLORG:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, our view of the matter is that the 134.7 in the 2012 column represents the depreciation on the pre-2012 asset base, and in 2012 we would also recognize a depreciation expense related to the pre-2012 CWIP that's brought into net fixed assets and the depreciation on the 2012 additions of 3.6.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, but -- yes, but you have already; right?  If you take a look down at the 10 percent proxy revenue attraction factor of $11.2 million, that includes depreciation, doesn't it?

MR. McLORG:  That's --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So all your depreciation on everything additional going into service in 2012 is already in that number; isn't it?

MR. McLORG:  I don't follow that logic.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, what is this proxy revenue attraction factor?  Isn't it weighted cost of capital plus depreciation?  That's the 10 percent number I always use.

MR. WILLIAMS:  That is the same 10 percent capital recovery factor as was referred to on the first sheet of that exhibit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that includes weighted average cost of capital and depreciation on the new assets; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  As an approximation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you can't count the depreciation on the new assets again, Mr. McLorg, so I put to you again you have $4.1 million available?

MR. McLORG:  Well, let me try it this way, because I think that we are just disagreeing about semantics, possibly.  The sum of 134.7 and 1 and 3.6 is what we would recognize as depreciation expense.

The unfunded net fixed assets line is the thing that, in our view, attracts what we are calling the 10 percent proxy revenue attraction factor, and, by definition or by construction, those unfunded net fixed assets aren't included in what's already in rates, so I think that we are --

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, that's a tautology, Mr. McLorg.  Let's nail this down before we go on. The depreciation pre-2012 CWIP and the depreciation 2012/2013 additions, these are only there to calculate your rate base; right?  That's what they are in that calculation for.

MR. McLORG:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So below that you have $11.2 million that you say is the cost of all this new stuff you put into rates, the increase in your rate base on a revenue requirement basis for 2012, and you say the whole cost of that, depreciation and cost of capital, is $11.2 million.  So you can't count the depreciation twice.

MR. WILLIAMS:  Where do you see it being counted twice?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, it's in the 11.2; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then if it's in the 11.2, then it's true that you have a reduction in your depreciation from 2011; right?  From 2011 to 2012, your depreciation on your existing assets goes down; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  You are referring to the 134.7?

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  The depreciation on existing assets does go down; right?  Some come out of service.  Some are destroyed.  Some are replaced.  It goes down; right?

MR. McLORG:  We can certainly agree on that, Mr. Shepherd, but I think maybe I will try again.  If you look at the line that's labelled "less net fixed assets funded through rates", you will see that what Mr. Williams has done there is to escalate the assets that are funded through the IRM adjusted rates by 1.068 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What has that got to do with what we are talking about, Mr. McLorg?

MR. McLORG:  Well, that's how the depreciation allowance in rates is transmitted through in this analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's increased.

MR. McLORG:  That's right, and we are subtracting that amount from the net fixed assets that we show on an accounting basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying that you took the 138.8, you escalated it, and then you added the 4.1 on that line less net fixed assets funded through rates.  Is that what you did?  I haven't seen your math so...

MR. WILLIAMS:  I don't believe that's what Mr. McLorg said, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, where is the 4.1?

MR. WILLIAMS:  That comes from where, please?

MR. SHEPHERD:  138.8 minus 134.7.

MR. WILLIAMS:  It's my understanding, and you mentioned it yourself, some of the assets, some of Toronto Hydro's assets, are at the end of their useful life, which is actually, in a sense, the topic of this hearing.  And, as a result, the depreciation -- so when something comes to the end of its life, you stop depreciating it.  It's fully depreciated.  And that is what you are seeing in that depreciation of the pre-2012 asset base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me deal with this another way.  You see these two figures of 1 million and 3.6 million under 2012, the depreciation on pre-'12 WIP and '12 and '13 additions? Do you see those, that $4.6 million; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That 4.6 million is included in your 11.2 million, isn't it?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's all I need to know.

MR. WILLIAMS:  Sorry, but you are looking at -- I just want to be clear in terms of how you are looking at it.  That year, in 2012, right, THESL would have a depreciation expense, right, of the 4.6, which is the total of those two numbers; right?  What we are showing here is changes in net fixed assets.

So I just want to differentiate or make clear in some cases that is flowing through as an expense, and that would be an expense on the system in terms of its financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The unfunded net fixed assets of 112.1, the cost of those on a revenue requirement basis have two components.  They have the $4.6 million of depreciation, plus they have - what does it work out to - $6.6 million of weighted average cost of capital; right?  That's what the 10 percent does?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Essentially, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good.  That's all I need to know.

I could do the same calculation for each of the other three years.  Conceptually it's the same; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Then the next thing I want to ask about on this is:  The amount embedded in current rates for ROE is 9.58 per cent, isn't it?

MR. SEAL:  That's correct.  That was our 2011 allowed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for 2012, if you are doing this on a revenue requirement basis, for 2012 it would be 9.12, wouldn't it?

MR. SEAL:  We actually don't have the ROE number for May 1st rates filers yet.

MR. SHEPHERD:  For 2012?

MR. SEAL:  Sorry, 2012.  That would be the one for cost of service filers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  9.12?

MR. SEAL:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a cost of service calculation; right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Can I clarify something?  Perhaps I wasn't clear earlier.  I don't think that we should take this as a cost of service calculation, because there is a lot of things that are not included, most importantly O&M.  And as I said, it does not include working capital, right, which is actually I think expected to increase over the IRM period.

So this was -- I just want to call it what it is.  It's looking at Toronto Hydro's net fixed assets over the IRM period, and looking at what would be unfunded, based on...

MR. SHEPHERD:  On cost of service principles, though?  You are looking at net fixed assets on cost of service principles, right?

MR. McLORG:  In my opinion, Mr. Shepherd, we are looking at it on the basis of revenue attraction principles, revenue requirement attraction principles.

We are simply looking --


MR. SHEPHERD:  That sounds an awful lot like cost of service to me.

MR. McLORG:  Well, I don't know what baggage that term carries with you, but we are just looking at it from the perspective of what are the actual costs incurred by the utility to make that net investment in the business.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Would you agree -- and maybe this is for Mr. Seal -- would you agree that, subject to check, that your cost of equity from 2011 to 2012, based on the market rates that the Board uses, has gone down about $4 million?  In that ballpark?  From 9.58 down to 9.12, at a 40 percent equity rate, you are in the order of about $4 million, right?

MR. SEAL:  If your math is take the Board-approved '11 ROE, the Board-approved '12 ROE, and apply that to our deemed equity –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. SEAL:  -- and your math is correct, then I will agree that that math is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And similarly, the current ROE for 2013 -- now, I take your point; you don't have the May 1st one yet, but the current is 8.93, so that would be another reduction, right?

That is, you need less money for your equity in 2013 than 2012, unless it goes up between now and May.

MR. SEAL:  Again, following your math in that application, it does indicate a lower.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only thing -- the other thing that's changing, of course, is that your rate base is actually going up, right?

So we are using the 2011 rate base for this calculation, but the rate base is actually a changing thing, right?  You are spending more money on capital; it's going up?

MR. SEAL:  The real rate base does go up, as we have shown.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the cost of capital associated with the increases in rate base, they are down at the bottom here, aren't they?  They are included in these 10 percent proxy revenue attraction factors, right?  The increases in rate base?

Nobody wants to answer?

MR. WILLIAMS:  To your question, the ROE, as I said, that's an approximation, that capital recovery factor is an approximation.  And so the numbers, obviously, would move around a little bit, depending on the ROE, but since this is within an IRM application -- sorry, within an IRM period, the ROE, as applicable for Toronto Hydro from its original application, would be 9.58 percent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let's just deconstruct that for a second, that answer.

You have agreed that the 10 percent proxy revenue attraction factor is a commonly used and reasonably accurate method of estimating the total of ROE and cost of debt and depreciation on changes in rate base, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  As an approximation, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So we are on the same page on the fact that although it's an approximation, it's in the ballpark, right?

MR. WILLIAMS:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I agree with you that under IRM you get to keep your 9.58, right?  That's true, you get to keep it, right?  It isn't adjusted each year under IRM; true?

MR. WILLIAMS:  That's my understanding, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But of course, under IRM you don't get the 2011 half-year rule brought back in either, do you?

So you want one.  You want the 2011 half-year rule back, but you don't want to adjust the cost of capital, right?

It sounds like cherry picking to me.  That's why I am asking the question.

MR. WILLIAMS:  I don't see it as cherry picking, Mr. Shepherd.  The application follows the Board's IRM framework.  Toronto Hydro has filed a claim with respect to that half-year rule, which is essentially claiming something that's not covered in the rate base that carries through the IRM period.  There is a gap there.  I think that that gap is a -- perhaps it was -- I don't know if it was an oversight, but it certainly -- there is a definite gap there in terms of the rate base that's covered in the IRM period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you are saying it might have been an oversight in the Board's --


MR. WILLIAMS:  Well, I wouldn't –- I --


MR. SHEPHERD:  -- third-generation IRM report?

MR. WILLIAMS:  I will take that back.  It wasn't an oversight, per se, but I would just say that there is -- for utilities that have that level of capital spending in the test year, there is created a gap, a deficiency from that unrecognized closing rate base, that doesn't flow into the rates over the IRM period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Tell me whether this is correct, and I think this may be for you, Ms. Cheah.  The overall cost of long-term debt of Toronto Hydro in 2012 is expected to be significantly lower than 2011, right?  Something in the order of 60 or 70 basis points on average; is that fair?

Anybody can answer it.  I just -- I know you've done some refinancings, and I know your cost of capital is lower this year.  I don't know what the number is, but it's, I'm guessing, 60 or 70 basis points.

MS. CHEAH:  We have submitted that in -- I believe it's JT2.15 and 2.16, the references that we make here is our weighted average interest rate, in 2011 recording 5.33 percent, versus 2012 at 5.16 percent.

So I don't believe it's 600 basis points, but yes, there is a decline.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So it's 17 basis points.  So that's 17 basis points is worth, what, about $3 million or $4 million in interest savings?  Am I in the ballpark?

MR. SEAL:  We will take that, subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I am right that -- did you just do a refinancing, or are you just about to do another refinancing of, like, another 400 million or something?  Is that right?

MR. SEAL:  I don't believe anyone on the panel can answer that.  I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me ask theoretically, then.

If you did another big refinancing some time now, at less than 5.16 percent, it's going to mean that your weighted average cost of capital for next year will go down, as well, right?  At least to the extent of that influence?  True?

MR. SEAL:  If it could be issued at less than our weighted average cost of debt right now, yes, it would lower it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am going on to another area.  This may be an appropriate time to take a breath.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Great.  Thank you very much.

MS. HARE:  Let me ask a quick question.
Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  Ms. Cheah, when you answered 2011 the weighted average cost of 5.33, is that actual or what was included in rates?

MS. CHEAH:  That would be our actual.

MS. HARE:  So what was included in rates for 2011; do you know that?

MR. SEAL:  I believe, Ms. Hare, it was 5.37 percent.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.
Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  With that, Ms. Spoel will be leaving us at this point, so we will stop the cross-examination and deal with a couple of administrative matters, or at least one, for sure, and that is a discussion on the scheduling of the submissions.

I would suggest, given that we are not sure how tomorrow is going to unfold, let's be optimistic and include that potential of having the argument in-chief orally tomorrow afternoon and set a schedule for that, and let's also set a schedule for the contingency factor of not having time to do that tomorrow, and then we will have a full written.

The Board is suggesting that if we can't do the argument in-chief orally tomorrow, all chief and the reply -- or the responses from the intervenors and the final reply would all be in writing over the next subsequent weeks.

So if we were to have oral argument in-chief tomorrow, we would be looking at the -- and keeping in mind that we do have obviously some statutory days in the coming weeks, tomorrow being the 14th, if we were to receive that argument in-chief tomorrow, the Board would then look to - I put this out for comment - January the 3rd for the intervenors' submissions and that -- let's back up to the conversation that we had as to what the intent of having these available to the Board and having the submissions on this phase available to the Board and work from that context.

I am just throwing dates out here.  What we would typically do is a couple of weeks between the chief and the reply, but given people's personal schedules I am sure over the next few weeks, we can certainly accommodate that, and also be mindful of the idea of having these available to Board.

Mr. Cass, again, back to our original conversations on this at the beginning of the week, as I recall, the suggestion was that this would be something that the Board would have before it, start formulating some concepts as far as the finals, given that we have some other moving pieces, the Bremner project running in parallel to this, but that on the substance of the matters that we have heard from this week, we would have some of the submissions on that.  That would allow, if need be -- if the Bremner -- you know, premised on the Bremner project took a certain course that the Board considered appropriate to have a partial decision, we would have the submissions on that.

That would require some more engineering, I suppose, as to what the rate impacts would be, to parse out the elements of Bremner that are now included in the tariffs and the projections, but we will deal with that if that eventuality unfolds.

So given that, the Bremner process as it stands now, I think we have a final procedural order date of -- January 9th would be the interrogatory responses to the interrogatories on intervenor evidence, I believe, Mr. Davies; is that correct?

MR. DAVIES:  I would have to confirm it.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm just thinking of the alignment of the two as to:  Is there a need to --


MR. MILLAR:  It is the 9th, sir.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  With all that in mind, it is not likely that we would be looking for a final, all-in decision, in any case, for weeks after that, at least.  So all that to say I think we can be somewhat relaxed in our responses from the intervenors.  Ms. Hare, are you on side with that?

MS. HARE:  Yes.

MR. CASS:  Mr. Chair, might I interject?

MR. QUESNELLE:  You certainly can.

MR. CASS:  My apologies.  The things you just said are very much in line with the submission or comments that I had made about the argument schedule at the beginning of this case, and certainly that was the objective of Toronto Hydro was to proceed in that fashion.

The position I am now in, though, is we have still fairly lengthy time estimates for this panel tomorrow.  It seems that I would be putting a lot of work into preparing an examination -- my apologies, an argument in-chief on a contingency.  I am not sure whether that's practical, and also your comments about how practical this argument schedule is going to be, anyway, to get us out that much far ahead of the Bremner aspect of the case.

So putting those two things together, again, I apologize that I was the one that brought it up about oral argument in-chief, but given where we are at the end of the day on Thursday, I am not sure that that is any longer a practical suggestion.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, that's understandable.

MR. CASS:  Perhaps I might offer, if the Board is interested in oral submissions and an opportunity to ask questions, perhaps I could offer reply as something that could be done within the context of a schedule to be set.  But I am just concerned that my suggestion about oral argument in-chief is not looking so practical anymore.

MR. QUESNELLE:  With that in mind, as far as your argument in-chief in a written format, what would you be proposing?

MR. CASS:  I think a week would be reasonable, Mr. Chair, if that's suitable.

MR. QUESNELLE:  By the 21st, then?  Given that....

MS. GIRVAN:  Mr. Chair, I just want to throw in one point.  I think it's useful, typically, in these cases, to have Board Staff file their argument first.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, ordinarily we are happy to do that.  I should point out there are -- we perhaps need more parties to review our submissions than some of the others, and we have done a bit of homework at our end and a lot of people who will have to review this are simply not around over at least to the two weeks of Christmas.

Again, if the schedule permits, we have no objection to going first, but I don't think -- we can't have our time limit curtailed in this particular one, just because the people who need to look at this won't be around.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we were to go with the Board Staff submission on the 9th, Mr. Millar, is that within the ballpark of being realistic?

MR. MILLAR:  That would be tight, but we are in the Board's hands.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Girvan, you raised it.  What would you see as a suitable time after the fact?  A couple of days, or are we going to the following Monday?

MS. GIRVAN:  I think it's difficult, a couple of days.  I find that difficult, if we really want to sort of take note of what Board Staff has argued.  So I am again in your hands, but I think a couple of days wouldn't be enough.

MR. QUESNELLE:  If we went with January the 10th for Board Staff submissions, and then January the 15th for the following -- for the intervenors to follow on that, and then the 29th, and we will set this out in -- we will provide the dates now, obviously, and this transcript will serve as the procedural order on that and operate on that.

If the Board finds that it would prefer closer to the 29th and it makes sense to tie these things back with Bremner if there is another process we are having on the Bremner stream, discovery and what have you, and it makes since to have this done orally, we will take advantage of that.  But for the time being, let's plan on a written process for all three, argument in-chief, intervenor and Board Staff, and then reply.  Does that sit well with everybody?

I don't know if there are any other administrative issues that we should deal with right now that we would like to do without Ms. Spoel here, anyway.  But, no, I think that we will conclude for the day.

Again, we will start at 9:00 a.m. tomorrow morning and we won't plan on having any argument in-chief tomorrow.  It will be the completion of the cross-examination of this panel.  Okay, thank you very much.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:37 p.m. 
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